Parametric investigations to enhance thermal performance of paraffin through a novel geometrical configuration of shell and tube latent thermal storage system

Zakir Khan<sup>a</sup>\*, Zulfiqar Khan<sup>a</sup>, Kamran Tabeshf<sup>b</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Bournemouth University, Faculty of Science and Technology, NanoCorr, Energy and Modelling (NCEM), Fern Barrow, Talbot Campus, Poole, Dorset BH12 5BB, UK.

E-mail: zkhan@bournemouth.ac.uk

<sup>b</sup> Bournemouth University, Faculty of Science and Technology, NanoCorr, Energy and Modelling (NCEM), Fern Barrow, Talbot Campus, Poole, Dorset BH12 5BB, UK.

E-mail: KTabeshf@bournemouth.ac.uk

# **Corresponding Author:**

<sup>a</sup>\* Bournemouth University, Faculty of Science and Technology, NanoCorr, Energy and Modelling (NCEM), Fern Barrow, Talbot Campus, Poole, Dorset BH12 5BB, UK.

E-mail: zkhan2@bournemouth.ac.uk

Tel.: +44 7459249069

# 1 Abstract

2 This paper presents a two-dimensional finite element computational model which investigates thermal behaviour of a novel geometrical configuration of shell and tube based latent heat storage 3 (LHS) system. Commercial grade paraffin is used as a phase change material (PCM) with water is 4 5 employed as a heat transfer fluid (HTF). In this numerical analysis, the parametric investigations are 6 conducted to identify the enhancement in melting rate and thermal storage capacity. The parametric 7 investigations are comprised of number and orientation of tube passes in the shell, longitudinal fins 8 length and thickness, materials for shell, tube and fins, and inlet temperature of HTF. Numerical 9 analysis revealed that the melting rate is significantly enhanced by increasing the number of tube 10 passes from 9 to 21. In 21 passes configuration, conduction heat transfer is the dominant and effective mode of heat transfer. The length of fins has profound impact on melting rate as compared 11 12 to fins thickness. Also, the reduction in thermal storage capacity due to an increase in fins length is 13 minimal to that of increase in fins thickness. The influence of several materials for shell, tube and fins are examined. Due to higher thermal conductivity, the melting rate for copper and aluminium is 14 15 significantly higher than steel AISI 4340, cast iron, tin and nickel. Similarly, the thermal storage capacity and melting rate of LHS system is increased by a fraction of 18.06 % and 68.8 % as the 16 17 inlet temperature of HTF is increased from 323.15 K to 343.15 K, respectively. This study presents an insight into how to augment the thermal behaviour of paraffin based LHS system and ultimately, 18 19 these findings inform novel design solutions for wide-ranging practical utilisation in both domestic 20 and commercial heat storage applications.

21 Keywords

22 Latent heat storage, Phase change material, Thermal conductivity, Heat transfer, Shell and tube

# **Table of Contents**

23	1.	Introduction	.4
24	2.	Numerical model	. 7
25		2.1 Physical model	. 7
26		2.2 Governing equations	. 8
27		2.3 Initial and boundary conditions	10
28		2.4 Computational procedure and model validation	10
29	3.	Results and discussion	12
30		3.1 Numbers and orientations of tube passes	L2
31		3.2 Longitudinal fins geometry	۱5
32		3.3 Shell, tube and fins materials1	18
33		3.4 Inlet temperature of HTF1	18

34	4. Conclusions	20
35	Acknowledgment	21
36	References	21

# Nomenclature

$C_p$	Specific heat at constant pressure (kJ/kg. K)	S	Momentum source term
F	Volume force (Pa/m)	u	Velocity (m/s)
f	Fraction of PCM in solid and liquid phase	α	Small constant value
$f_s$	Fraction of PCM in solid phase	β	Coefficient of thermal expansion (1/K)
$f_l$	Fraction of PCM in liquid phase	К	Morphology constant of mushy zone
g	Gravitational acceleration (m/s <sup>2</sup> )	ρ	Density (kg/m <sup>3</sup> )
Η	Specific enthalpy (MJ)	μ	Dynamic viscosity (kg/m. s)
k	Thermal conductivity (W/m. K)		
L	Latent heat of fusion (kJ/kg)	Subscripts	
Т	Temperature of PCM (K)	S	Solid phase of PCM
$T_s$	Temperature of solid region of PCM (K)	l	Liquid phase of PCM
$T_l$	Temperature of liquid region of PCM (K)	Acronyms	
$T_{pc}$	Phase change temperature (K)	HTF	Heat transfer fluid
р	Pressure (Pa)	LHS	Latent heat storage
q	Heat source term (W/m <sup>3</sup> )	PCM	Phase change material

37

#### 38 1. Introduction

For a long era, the world energy requirements are served and assisted by fossil fuels. 39 However, due to the number of downsides of using fossil fuels such as limited and depleting 40 resources, inconsistent prices and emission of harmful gases have encouraged scientists and 41 42 engineers to progress in technologies to take advantages of renewable energy. In order to respond to 43 the unpredictable and fluctuating nature of renewable energy sources, latent heat storage (LHS) 44 system provides a viable option. LHS utilises PCM to store surplus thermal energy within solar 45 systems or heat recovery systems and retrieves it when needed, in order to minimise the gap between 46 energy demand and supply [1, 2].

However, due to low thermal conductivity of PCM, rapid energy storage and discharge has been a major obstacle. Therefore, LHS system requires a sensitive and responsive thermal energy storing and discharging technique. A significant body literature is available that deals with the enhancement of LHS system such as geometric orientations of LHS system [3, 4], utilising extended surfaces [5, 6], encapsulation of PCM [7-11], employing form stable PCM [12-17] and inclusion of high thermal conductivity additives to PCM [18-20].

53 To develop efficient and productive LHS systems, thermal behaviour of several configurations 54 and orientations have been examined. PCMs are normally employed in rectangular, spherical, 55 cylindrical and shell and tubes containers. Kamkari and Shokouhmand [21] conducted an 56 experimental study to identify the effect of number of fins on heat transfer and melting rate of PCM 57 in rectangular container. It was deducted that melting time for one fin and 3 fins were reduced by 58 18% and 37% as compared to without fins enclosure. However, an increase in number of fins 59 resulted in reduced natural convection and thus the overall heat transfer rate was compromised. 60 Kalbasi and Salimpour [22] numerically studied the impact of length and number of longitudinal fins 61 on thermal performance of PCM in rectangular enclosure. It was reported that higher number of 62 longitudinal fins with shorter length showed augmented natural convection as compared to few fins 63 with longer length. It was recommended that an optimum value for fins length and number should be 64 identified to optimise the system. On the contrary, Ren and Chan [23] reported that an increase in longitudinal fins length enhanced the melting rate of PCM and therefore small number of lengthy 65 66 fins exhibited effective thermal performance as compared to large number of shorter fins.

Li and Wu [24] numerically investigated the influence of six longitudinal fins on melting rate of NaNO<sub>3</sub> in horizontal concentric tube. It was observed that extended fins can reduce the melting and solidification time by at least 14% compared to concentric tubes without fins. Rabienataj Darzi et al. [25] simulated the effect of number fins on melting and solidification rate of N-eicosane in horizontal concentric tube. It was noticed that melting time for 4, 10, 15 and 20 fins were reduced by 39%, 73%, 78% and 82% as compared to no fins case, respectively. Likewise, the solidification time

73 was decreased by 28%, 62%, 75% and 85% as compared to no fins case, respectively. However, as 74 an increase in fins number restrained natural convection, thus increase in fins presented more 75 prominent influence on solidification than melting rate. Yuan et al. [26] simulated the impact of fins 76 angle on melting rate of lauric acid in horizontal concentric tube. It was reported that fins angle 77 plays a significant role in influencing melting rate. The different angles for installation of two fins 78 were  $0^{\circ}$ ,  $30^{\circ}$ ,  $45^{\circ}$  and  $90^{\circ}$ . The melting rate for fins angle  $0^{\circ}$  was comparatively higher. Moreover, in case of fins angle 0°, an increase in inlet temperature of HTF from 60 °C to 80 °C reduced melting 79 80 time by 59.24%.

81 Caron-Soupart et al. [27] conducted an experimental examination to identify the effect of 82 vertical concentric tube orientations on melting rate, heat exchange power and storage density. 83 Selected concentric tube orientations were consisted of a single HTF tube without fins, with 84 longitudinal fins and with circular fins. It was noticed that the melting rate for tube with longitudinal 85 fins and circular fins was significantly higher than that of the tube without fins. Likewise, the heat 86 exchange power was increased by a factor of 10 for the fins orientations than without fins. However, 87 due to provision of higher PCM volume, the tube without fins orientation exhibited higher thermal 88 storage density. Likewise, Agyenim et al. [28] conducted an experimental investigation to identify 89 the thermal response of erythritol as a PCM in three orientations of horizontal concentric tube. The 90 three orientations were concentric tube with no fins, with circular fins and with longitudinal fins. It 91 was noticed that after 8 hrs of charging, only longitudinal fins orientation was able to melt the entire 92 PCM. Also, cumulative thermal energy storage for longitudinal fins was comparatively higher. 93 During solidification process, longitudinal fins showed better thermal performance with reduced 94 subcooling.

95 Rathod and Banerjee [29] experimentally evaluated the effect of three longitudinal fins on 96 melting and solidification rate of stearic acid in shell and tube container. It was noticed that melting 97 and solidification time was reduced by 24.52% and 43.6% as compared to without fins case, 98 respectively. Luo et al. [30] numerically studied the impact of number of HTF tubes and their 99 orientations in shell and tube container on thermal performance. It was observed that the required 100 melting time for single HTF tube was 2.5 and 5 times than four and nine HTF tubes, respectively. 101 Similarly, the thermal performance of centrosymmetric orientation is better than staggered and inline 102 orientation. Esapour et al. [31] also examined the influence of number of HTF tubes in shell and tube 103 container. It was noticed that by increasing the number of HTF tubes from 1 to 4, the melting time 104 can be reduced by 29%. Therefore, it is evident that the number of HTF tubes has a good influence 105 on thermal behaviour of LHS system.

106 Vyshak and Jilani [32] conducted a numerical study to compare the impact of rectangular,107 cylindrical, and shell and tube container orientations on melting rate of PCM. It was observed that

for the same volume and heat transfer surface area, the melting rate for shell and tube configurationwas comparatively higher.

Tao et al. [33] numerically investigated the influence of HTF tube geometry on melting time. The tested configurations involved smooth, dimpled, cone-finned and helical-finned tubes. It was reported that the melting time for dimple, cone-finned and helical-finned tube was reduced by 19.9%, 26.9% and 30.7% comparing to smooth tube, respectively. Likewise, Li et al. [34] reported that heat transfer rate can be significantly enhanced by employing internally ribbed tubes instead of smooth tubes. Furthermore, the influence of the numbers, geometrical configurations and orientations of fins on thermal behaviour of LHS system is discussed in [35-40].

117 The mass flow rate of HTF has a minimal influence on thermal behaviour as compared to inlet 118 temperature of HTF and geometrical configuration of LHS system. Seddegh et al. [41] numerically 119 examined the influence of vertical and horizontal orientation of shell and tube container on thermal 120 behaviour of LHS system. Moreover, it was noticed that mass flow rate of HTF has insignificant 121 influence on melting rate. Kibria et al. [42] conducted numerical and experimental examination of 122 paraffin wax in shell and tube container. It was deduced that mass flow rate of HTF has negligible 123 effect on thermal performance. Also, Wang et al. [43] numerically investigated the enhancement in 124 thermal performance of shell and tube container due to inlet temperature and mass flow rate of HTF. 125 It was observed that the inlet temperature has more profound impact on melting rate and thermal 126 storage capacity than mass flow rate of HTF. Thus, this article will not consider the parametric 127 investigation of mass flow rate of HTF.

128 In this article, the parametric investigation of a novel geometrical configuration of a shell and 129 tube model is conducted. This specific orientation of shell and tube with longitudinal fins has not 130 been reported in literature. A two-dimensional computational model is applied to a novel shell and 131 tube configuration. This article is focused on identifying the influence of number of tube passes and 132 their orientation in the shell on the melting rate and thermal storage capacity. Moreover, the parametric investigations of fins length, fins thickness and materials for shell, tubes and fins are 133 conducted to investigate the impact on thermal behaviour of LHS system. The influence of inlet 134 135 temperature of HTF on melting rate and thermal storage capacity is also examined. This article will 136 help in highlighting the parameters that can enhance the thermal performance of LHS system and 137 therefore, the large scale practical utilisation in various domestic and industrial applications, time-138 saving and economic benefits can be achieved.

## 139 2. Numerical model

#### 140 2.1 Physical model

141 Physical configuration of LHS system is presented in Fig. 1. Parametric investigations of 142 novel shell and tube model has been conducted to address the enhancement of phase transition rate 143 and thermal storage capacity. The geometrical parameters of shell and tube model are selected with 144 an objective to develop an efficient and responsive LHS system that will be coupled with flat plate 145 solar thermal system, which is previously designed and developed by Helvaci and Khan [44]. The 146 outer diameter, length and thickness of the shell are 450 mm, 320 mm and 1 mm, respectively. The 147 tube is connected with fins, each of 2 mm thickness. The fins are equidistant to each other. 148 Commercial grade paraffin is selected as PCM for its high heat storage capacity, good chemical 149 stability, no super-cooling, non-corrosiveness and low cost [6, 45]. Water is made to flow in tube. 150 The thermo-physical properties of paraffin are given in Table. 1. Various configurations of shell and 151 tube are examined, as depicted in Fig. 2. In all cases, the number of tube passes, fins number and 152 fins geometry are selected to design a LHS system that is capable of melting entire mass of PCM 153 within 10 hrs and with minimal reduction in thermal storage capacity. Likewise, the highest possible 154 temperature attained by flat plate solar thermal system is in the range of 333.15 K [44]. To 155 incorporate weather fluctuations, the selected range of inlet temperature of HTF is from 323.15K to 156 343.15K.





(a)

(b)



# **158 Table 1**

Thermo-physical characteristics of paraffin [45]

Melting Temperature $T_{pc}$	41-44 °C or 314.15-317.15 K
Latent heat of fusion $L$	255 (kJ/kg)
Specific heat $C_p$	2.0 (kJ/kg. K)
Thermal conductivity k	0.2 (W/m. K) (solid); 0.2 (W/m. K) (liquid)
Density $\rho$	800 (kg/m <sup>3</sup> ) (solid); 700 (kg/m <sup>3</sup> ) (liquid)
Dynamic viscosity $\mu$	0.008 (kg/m. s)
Coefficient of thermal expansion $\beta$	0.00259 (1/K)

159



160

161 Fig. 2. Various configurations and orientations of shell and tube based LHS system

# 162 2.2 Governing equations

163 The governing equations to calculate the thermal performance and phase transition rate of 164 PCM based LHS system are mass, momentum and energy conservation equations; which are 165 described as follow:

166 Mass conservation:

167 
$$\frac{\partial \rho}{\partial t} + \nabla .(\rho \mathbf{u}) = 0$$
(1)

168 Momentum conservation:

169 
$$\frac{\partial(\rho \mathbf{u})}{\partial t} + \nabla .(\rho \mathbf{u}\mathbf{u}) = -\nabla p + \nabla .(\mu \nabla \mathbf{u}) + \mathbf{F} + S\mathbf{u}$$
(2)

170 Energy conservation:

171 
$$\frac{\partial(\rho C_p T)}{\partial t} + \nabla .(\rho C_p T \mathbf{u}) = \nabla .(k \nabla T) + q$$
(3)

where  $\rho$ , **u**, p,  $\mu$ , **F**, *S*,  $C_p$ , *k*, *T* and *q* represents density (kg/m<sup>3</sup>), velocity (m/s), pressure (Pa), dynamic viscosity (kg/m.s), volume force (Pa/m), momentum source term, specific heat at constant pressure (kJ/kg.K), thermal conductivity (W/m.K), temperature (K) and heat source term (W/m<sup>3</sup>), respectively. *F* in Eq. (2) can be estimated by using Boussinesq approximation [46, 47] as follow:

177 
$$\mathbf{F} = \rho \mathbf{g} \beta (T - T_{pc}) \tag{4}$$

where  $\mathbf{g}$ ,  $\beta$  and  $T_{pc}$  shows gravitational acceleration (m/s<sup>2</sup>), coefficient of thermal expansion (1/K) and phase change temperature (K), respectively. During phase transition, the enthalpy-porosity technique considers mushy zone as porous medium. The porosity and liquid fraction in each mesh element are assumed to be equivalent. In fully solidified mesh elements, the porosity is equal to zero. In order to reduce the velocity in solid region to zero, Kozeny-Carman equation is implemented to estimate the momentum source term *S* in Eq. (2), as follow [48, 49]:

184 
$$S = \frac{\kappa (1-f)^2}{(f^3 + \alpha)}$$
(5)

where  $\kappa$  represents morphology constant of mushy zone and  $\alpha$  is a small value to avoid division by zero. In this study the values of  $\kappa$  and  $\alpha$  are set to 10<sup>7</sup> and 10<sup>-4</sup>, respectively. Further, the phase transition occurs in temperature interval of  $T_s \leq T \leq T_l$ . A smoothing function f is introduced which indicates the fraction of material in solid and liquid phase, as described below:

189 
$$f = \begin{cases} 0 & T < T_s \\ \frac{T - T_s}{T_l - T_s} & T_s \le T \le T_l \\ 1 & T > T_l \end{cases}$$
(6)

where the indices S and l represent the solid and liquid phase of PCM, respectively. During phase transition interval, the specific enthalpy H can be defined as the combination of enthalpy in solid and liquid phase, as follow:

$$\rho H = f_s \rho_s H_s + f_l \rho_l H_l \tag{7}$$

194 To calculate effective specific heat capacity, Eq. (7) is differentiated with respect to 195 temperature and simplified as follow:

196 
$$C_{p} = \frac{\partial}{\partial T} \left[ \frac{f_{s} \rho_{s} H_{s} + f_{l} \rho_{l} H_{l}}{\rho} \right]$$
(8)

197 
$$C_{p} = \frac{1}{\rho} \Big( f_{s} \rho_{s} C_{p,s} + f_{l} \rho_{l} C_{p,l} \Big) + \Big( H_{l} - H_{s} \Big) \frac{\partial}{\partial T} \left[ \frac{(f_{l} \rho_{l} - f_{s} \rho_{s})}{2\rho} \right]$$
(9)

198 Eq. (9) indicates that effective specific heat capacity is the sum of sensible and latent heat 199 components. The difference in enthalpies  $H_l - H_s$  can be replaced with latent heat term L. 200 Likewise, the thermal conductivity and density of PCM can be expressed as follow:

$$k = f_s k_s + f_l k_l \tag{10}$$

$$\rho = f_s \rho_s + f_l \rho_l \tag{11}$$

#### 203 2.3 Initial and boundary conditions

As mentioned in Table. 1, the phase transition temperature of PCM is 314.15 K. In the course of melting, the initial temperature of thermal storage unit is kept at room temperature at 298.15 K, which is less than melting temperature. It indicates that initially entire PCM is in solid phase. A constant boundary temperature is provided from HTF tube to PCM in shell, which ranges from 323.15K to 343.15K. The melting process starts at t=0s by supplying constant temperature from HTF tube walls. The exterior boundary of shell is assumed to be perfectly insulated.

#### 210 2.4 Computational procedure and model validation

211 The governing equations are discretised by using finite element approach. In order to simplify 212 the model, it is assumed that all tube passes transfer thermal energy to PCM at constant temperature  $T_h$ . The governing equations for HTF and PCM are simultaneously solved in entire computational 213 214 domain due to coupled thermal energy transfer between HTF and PCM. Second order backward 215 differentiation technique is employed for time stepping to check the relative tolerance. The relative 216 tolerance is set to 0.001. The mesh independency and time stepping are validated by conducting a 217 series of comparative investigations to find the influence of different mesh numbers and time steps 218 on melt time. Case C from Fig. 2 is selected for this examination. Table. 2 represent the impact of 219 mesh numbers and time steps on the melt time. It is observed that when the time step is set to 1 min, 220 the melt time for entire LHS system in case-II and case-III are 443 and 441, respectively. However,

the difference in melt time for case-I and case-II is significant. Further, the melting fraction at a point, which is at 20 mm vertical distance from the outer boundary of central HTF tube, is illustrated in Fig. 3. It can be noticed from Fig. 3 (b) that the melting fraction plots for all three time steps are almost identical. Therefore, the selected mesh numbers and time steps for this study are 57861 and 1 min, respectively.

226 The current computational model was validated by comparing the simulation results with 227 experimental results which are reported by Liu and Groulx [50]. In their study, dodecanoic acid was 228 employed as PCM in horizontal cylindrical container of 152.4 mm outer diameter. Copper pipe of 229 12.7 mm outer diameter was fitted through the centre of cylinder. Four fins were connected to 230 copper pipe, each at 90 degrees. Water was utilised as HTF through copper pipe. For validation 231 purpose, the computational model was simulated using geometrical configuration, PCM, initial and 232 boundary conditions and mass flow rate of HTF as reported in [50]. Fig. 4 depicts that both 233 numerical results and experimental results are in good agreement.

# 234 **Table 2**

Validation of mesh independency and time stepping.

Case	Mesh	HTF	Time step	Melt time	Percent
	Numbers	temperature (K)	(min)	(min)	Error
Ι	28674	333.15	1	396	10.6
Π	57861	333.15	1	443	-
III	61932	333.15	1	441	0.45
IV	57861	333.15	0.25	437	1.35
V	57861	333.15	0.5	452	2.03

235



Fig. 3 (a) and (b) illustrates the mesh and time steps independency, respectively.



Fig. 4. Comparison of temperature profiles to validate numerical model with experimental results
from [50]. For all cases, the inlet temperature and flow rate of HTF were set to 323.15 K and 1
l/min, respectively.

# 241 **3.** Results and discussion

# 242 3.1 Numbers and orientations of tube passes

Fig. 5 demonstrates the melting fraction of PCM in various geometrical orientations of LHS system. The inlet temperature of HTF is set to 333.15 K for investigating the effect of numbers of tube passes on melting rate. The number of tube passes in case A, B and C are 9, 12 and 21, respectively. With an increase in tube pass, the volume of PCM in shell is compromised by tube and fins. On the contrary, it will increase the effective surface area for heat transfer and thus the low thermal conductivity of PCM can be improved. As a result, the melting rate of PCM can be significantly enhanced by increasing the tube passes.

In case A, the geometric orientation depicts that the tube passes are widely apart. It can be noticed that the tube pass at the centre and the tube passes near the boundary of shell are afar. Therefore, due to low thermal conductivity of PCM, the heat transfer is not very intense in this region. Initially, the melting process is dominated by conduction. It can be noticed from Fig. 5 that only 65.75% of PCM is melted after 5 hrs of heat transfer. With an increase in liquid percentage of PCM, the heat transfer is now dominated by convection. Further, the melting rate is reduced due to lack of conduction heat transfer. It can be observed that the liquid percentage of PCM is 95.45% and 99% after 10 hrs and 15 hrs of heat transfer, respectively. Likewise, even after 20 hrs, the PCM is not completely melted.

In case B, the surface area for heat transfer is increased by adding three more tube passes. Similar to case-A, the melting process is initially dominated by conduction. It is observed that after 4 hrs of heat transfer only 71.85% of PCM is in liquid phase. Convection dominates the heat transfer now and thus the melting rate reduces, as the liquid percentage of PCM is 96.07% and 99.5% after 8 hrs and 12 hrs, respectively. In case B, the entire PCM is melted in 15 hrs of continuous heat transfer.

In case C, the surface area for heat transfer is enhanced by increasing the number of tube passes to 21. In this case, the heat transfer is highly dominated by conduction as it can be seen that a huge percentage of PCM is melted within 3 hrs. It is noticed that the liquid percentage of PCM is 84%, 94.2% and 98.25% after 3 hrs, 4 hrs and 5 hrs of heat transfer, respectively. The entire PCM is melted in 7.5 hrs.

As depicted in Fig. 5, the melting rate for case C is significantly higher than case A and case B. It is noticed that due to higher effective surface area for heat transfer, the melt time for case C is about half as compared to case B. Also, due to the increase in tube passes, the heat transfer is dominated by conduction and therefore, the melting rate is improved significantly.





275

Fig. 5. Liquid fraction for all the three cases at inlet temperature of 333.15 K

#### 276 **3.2** Longitudinal fins geometry

277 Fins geometry plays a significant role in enhancing the thermal performance of LHS system. 278 Fig.6 represents the effect of various fins lengths on melting fraction and temperature distribution in 279 LHS system. Heat is transferred to LHS system for 4 hrs at inlet temperature of 333.15 K. The 280 influence of various fins lengths ranging from 12.7 mm to 38.10 mm is investigated. Due to an 281 increase in surface area, the thermal conduction enhances and consequently overall heat transfer 282 improves. It is evident from Fig. 6 that the temperature distribution in entire system for case (d) is 283 significantly better than other cases. After 4 hrs of heat transfer, the liquid fractions for case (a), (b), 284 (c) and (d) are noted to be 59.2%, 72.98%, 83.86% and 94.66%, respectively.

It can be observed from Fig. 7 that as compared to case (a), the total melting time for case (e), (g) and (i) is reduced by 35.45%, 47.01% and 57.32%, respectively. However, it is noticed that the thermal storage capacity is reduced by increasing the fins length. It is noted that the thermal storage capacity for case (i) is 1.94% lesser than case (a). Due to higher melting rate, case (i) is selected for further investigations in this article.



290

Fig.6. Influence of fins length on melting fraction and temperature contours after charging for 4
hours. Fins thickness is set to 2 mm for all cases. (a) fins length = 12.7mm, (b) fins length = 25.4
mm, (c) fins length = 31.75 mm and (d) fins length = 38.10 mm.



294

Fig. 7. Effects of fins length on total melt time and thermal storage capacity.

Fig. 8 illustrates the impact of fins thickness on melting fraction and temperature distribution in LHS system. The HTF temperature is set to 333.15 K and the system is charged for 4 hrs. The effects of different fins thickness ranging from 1 mm to 5 mm are examined. It can be noticed from Fig. 8 that the melting fraction for all cases are almost similar after 4 hrs of heat transfer. The liquid fraction for case (a), (b), (c) and (d) are recorded to be 94.58%, 94.66%, 94.74% and 94.75%, respectively. Likewise, the fins thickness has minimal influence on the temperature distribution.

Fig. 9 represents the total melting time and variation in thermal storage capacity for all cases. It can be noticed that the total melting time for case (e), case (g) and case (i) is reduced by 10.25%, 13.25% and 16.45% as compared to case (a), respectively. However, an increase in fins thickness can limit the volume for PCM and therefore the thermal storage capacity of LHS system can be compromised. As shown in Fig. 9, the thermal storage capacity for case (i) is reduced by 5.7% as compared to case (a), respectively.



308

312

Fig. 8. Influence of fins thickness on melting fraction and temperature contours after charging for 4
hours. (a) fins thickness= 1mm, (b) fins thickness= 2mm, (c) fins thickness= 3mm and (d) fins

thickness=4mm.





#### 314 **3.3** Shell, tube and fins materials

315 The low thermal conductivity of PCM can be boosted by employing higher thermal 316 conductive shell, tube and fins. High thermal conductive materials play a vital role in improving the 317 thermal performance of LHS system. In order to analyse the influence of material on thermal 318 performance, the following materials are examined: steel AISI 4340, cast iron, tin, nickel, 319 aluminium 6063, aluminium and copper. The inlet temperature of HTF is kept constant at 333.15 K 320 for all materials. Table 3 represents the percent liquid fraction and complete melting time of PCM 321 against various materials. It is observed that as the thermal conductivity of material increases, the 322 heat transfer rate between HTF and PCM increases and therefore the melting rate of PCM 323 strengthens. Due to higher thermal conductivity of copper, the required melting time for PCM is 324 reduced by 23.68% as compared to steel AISI 4340. Likewise, aluminium and aluminium 6063 325 presents a good thermal performance, as the melting time is reduced by 18.84 % and 17.88 % 326 comparing to cast iron, respectively. It is evident from Table 3 that copper and aluminium are the 327 suitable materials to be employed as shell, tube and fins material.

#### 328 **Table 3**

Effect of shel	1, tube and	l fins materia	al on melting rate	e of LHS system
	/		0	2

	Thermal		Percent	Liquid	Fraction		
	Conductivity						Complete Melting
Materials	(W/(m.K)) [51]	2 hr	4 hr	6 hr	8 hr	10 hr	Time (hr)
Steel AISI 4340	44.5	63.92	85.23	95.53	99.25	100	9.67
Cast Iron	50	65.06	86.23	96.19	99.46	100	9.34
Tin	67	67.30	87.69	97.30	99.71	100	8.92
Nickel	90	68.57	88.32	97.78	99.85	100	8.75
Aluminium 6063	201	72.77	92.19	99.08	100		7.67
Aluminium	238	73.05	92.68	99.15	100		7.58
Copper	400	73.63	93.69	99.34	100		7.38

329

# 330 **3.4 Inlet temperature of HTF**

In order to examine the influence of inlet temperature of HTF on melting rate and increase in enthalpy of LHS system, various inlet temperatures are investigated ranging from 323.15 K to 343.15 K. An increase in inlet temperature of HTF produces higher temperature difference between PCM and HTF and consequently the heat transfer rate is accelerated. Due to an increase in heat transfer, the melting rate of PCM is enhanced, as shown in Fig. 10. It is evident that LHS system in case (d) is at notable higher temperature compared to case (a) and thus majority of the PCM is either 337 in liquid state or mushy zone. After 4 hrs of heat transfer, the liquid fraction for case (a), (b) (c) and 338 (d) are noted to be 66.71%, 92.93%, 93.65% and 99.55%, respectively. Fig.11 illustrates that the 339 total melting time is reduced by 42.8%, 52.4% and 68.8% as the inlet temperature of HTF is increased from 323.15 K to 328.15 K, 333.15 K and 343.15 K, respectively. Also, due to the 340 341 increase in inlet temperature, the sensible enthalpy of the system is also augmented, which results in 342 enhancing the overall thermal storage capacity. Fig. 11 shows that the enthalpy of LHS system for 343 case (c), case (e) and case (i) is increased by 4.52%, 9.03% and 18.06% as compared to case (a), 344 respectively.



Fig. 10 Temperature contours of LHS system after 4 hrs of heat transfer. Various inlet temperatures
of HTF are (a) 323.15 K, (b) 328.15 K, (c) 333.15 K and (d) 343.15 K.

345



348

349 Fig. 11 Impact of inlet temperature of HTF on melting time and thermal storage capacity

#### 350 4. Conclusions

In this article, a computational model is employed to examine the thermal performance of novel shell and tube configuration based LHS system. Parametric investigation is conducted to inspect the improvement in thermal performance due to the number of tube passes, length and thickness of longitudinal fins, materials for shell, tube and fins, and inlet temperature of HTF. The augmented thermal behaviour of LHS system can attain both time and economic benefits, along with extensive and sustainable employment in both domestic and industrial applications. From the numerical results the following conclusions are reached:

It is observed that as the number of tube passes is increased from 9 to 21, the thermal performance of the LHS system is significantly enhanced. This is due to the fact that the thermal conductivity and effective surface area for heat transfer increases by increasing the number of tubes. The heat transfer is dominated by conduction heat transfer and therefore the required melting time for 21 number of tube passes is reduced by 48.5% to that of 12 tube passes.

The geometry of the fins plays a vital role in improving the thermal performance of LHS system. It is noticed that as the length of the fins is increased from 12.7 mm to 38.10 mm, the thermal conductivity of the system improved and consequently the heat transfer between HTF and PCM. The melting time is reduced by 57.32% as the length of the fins is increased from 12.7 mm to 38.10 mm.

- Fins thickness influences the melting time of the PCM. However, it is observed that increase
   in fins length has more prominent effects on thermal performance than fins thickness. Also,
   the thermal storage capacity of system is decreased by 5.7% as the fins thickness is increased
   from 1 mm to 5 mm.
- Shell, tubes and fins material has significant effect on the thermal performance. It is
   recommended to use high thermal conductive material, which is compatible with PCM. It was
   observed that copper, aluminium and aluminium 6063 has considerably better thermal
   performance with paraffin as compared to steel AISI 4340.
- The enthalpy and melting rate is augmented by increasing the inlet temperature of HTF from
   323.15 K to 343.15 K. Due to increase in inlet temperature, the sensible enthalpy increases
   and therefore the overall system thermal storage capacity is increased by 18.06%. Likewise,
   the melting time is reduced by 68.8%.

# 381 Acknowledgment

This project is match funded by Bournemouth University, UK and National University of Sciences and Technology (NUST), Pakistan within their international research collaboration initiative. The authors would like to acknowledge both financial and in-kind support provided by both universities.

#### 386 References

- [1] M.M. Farid, A.M. Khudhair, S.A.K. Razack, S. Al-Hallaj. A review on phase change energy storage:
   materials and applications. Energy conversion and management. 45 (2004) 1597-615.
- [2] A. Sharma, V. Tyagi, C. Chen, D. Buddhi. Review on thermal energy storage with phase change
   materials and applications. Renewable and Sustainable energy reviews. 13 (2009) 318-45.
- [3] N.S. Dhaidan, J. Khodadadi. Melting and convection of phase change materials in different
- shape containers: A review. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews. 43 (2015) 449-77.
  [4] A.R. Archibold, J. Gonzalez-Aguilar, M.M. Rahman, D.Y. Goswami, M. Romero, E.K. Stefanakos.
- The melting process of storage materials with relatively high phase change temperatures in partially filled spherical shells. Applied Energy. 116 (2014) 243-52.
- 396 [5] S. Jegadheeswaran, S.D. Pohekar. Performance enhancement in latent heat thermal storage
  397 system: a review. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews. 13 (2009) 2225-44.
- [6] Z. Khan, Z. Khan, A. Ghafoor. A review of performance enhancement of PCM based latent heat
  storage system within the context of materials, thermal stability and compatibility. Energy
  Conversion and Management. 115 (2016) 132-58.
- 401 [7] P.B. Salunkhe, P.S. Shembekar. A review on effect of phase change material encapsulation on
  402 the thermal performance of a system. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews. 16 (2012) 5603403 16.
- 404 [8] C. Liu, Z. Rao, J. Zhao, Y. Huo, Y. Li. Review on nanoencapsulated phase change materials:
  405 Preparation, characterization and heat transfer enhancement. Nano Energy. 13 (2015) 814-26.
- 406 [9] J. Giro-Paloma, M. Martínez, L.F. Cabeza, A.I. Fernández. Types, methods, techniques, and 407 applications for Microencapsulated Phase Change Materials (MPCM): A review. Renewable and
- 407 applications for Microencapsulated Phase Change Materials (MPCM). A review. Ren 408 Sustainable Energy Reviews. 53 (2016) 1059-75.

- 409 [10] L.-W. Fan, Z.-Q. Zhu, S.-L. Xiao, M.-J. Liu, H. Lu, Y. Zeng, et al. An experimental and numerical
- 410 investigation of constrained melting heat transfer of a phase change material in a circumferentially 411 finned spherical capsule for thermal energy storage. Applied Thermal Engineering. 100 (2016)
- finned spherical capsule for thermal energy storage. Applied Thermal Engineering. 100 (2016)1063-75.
- 413 [11] H. Zhang, J. Baeyens, J. Degrève, G. Cáceres, R. Segal, F. Pitié. Latent heat storage with tubular-414 encapsulated phase change materials (PCMs). Energy. 76 (2014) 66-72.
- 415 [12] B. Tian, W. Yang, L. Luo, J. Wang, K. Zhang, J. Fan, et al. Synergistic enhancement of thermal
- 416 conductivity for expanded graphite and carbon fiber in paraffin/EVA form-stable phase change 417 materials. Solar Energy. 127 (2016) 48-55.
- 418 [13] Z. Liu, Y. Zhang, K. Hu, Y. Xiao, J. Wang, C. Zhou, et al. Preparation and properties of 419 polyethylene glycol based semi-interpenetrating polymer network as novel form-stable phase 420 change materials for thermal energy storage. Energy and Buildings. 127 (2016) 327-36.
- 421 [14] R. Li, J. Zhu, W. Zhou, X. Cheng, Y. Li. Thermal properties of sodium nitrate-expanded 422 vermiculite form-stable composite phase change materials. Materials & Design. 104 (2016) 190-6.
- 423 [15] L. Feng, C. Wang, P. Song, H. Wang, X. Zhang. The form-stable phase change materials based
  424 on polyethylene glycol and functionalized carbon nanotubes for heat storage. Applied Thermal
  425 Engineering. 90 (2015) 952-6.
- 426 [16] M. Silakhori, H. Fauzi, M.R. Mahmoudian, H.S.C. Metselaar, T.M.I. Mahlia, H.M. Khanlou.
  427 Preparation and thermal properties of form-stable phase change materials composed of palmitic
  428 acid/polypyrrole/graphene nanoplatelets. Energy and Buildings. 99 (2015) 189-95.
- 429 [17] J.-L. Zeng, J. Gan, F.-R. Zhu, S.-B. Yu, Z.-L. Xiao, W.-P. Yan, et al. Tetradecanol/expanded
- 430 graphite composite form-stable phase change material for thermal energy storage. Solar Energy431 Materials and Solar Cells. 127 (2014) 122-8.
- 432 [18] J. Khodadadi, L. Fan, H. Babaei. Thermal conductivity enhancement of nanostructure-based
  433 colloidal suspensions utilized as phase change materials for thermal energy storage: a review.
  434 Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews. 24 (2013) 418-44.
- [19] L. Fan, J. Khodadadi. Thermal conductivity enhancement of phase change materials for thermal
  energy storage: a review. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews. 15 (2011) 24-46.
- 437 [20] L. Liu, D. Su, Y. Tang, G. Fang. Thermal conductivity enhancement of phase change materials
  438 for thermal energy storage: A review. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews. 62 (2016) 305-
- 439 17.
- 440 [21] B. Kamkari, H. Shokouhmand. Experimental investigation of phase change material melting in
  441 rectangular enclosures with horizontal partial fins. International Journal of Heat and Mass Transfer.
  442 78 (2014) 839-51.
- 443 [22] R. Kalbasi, M.R. Salimpour. Constructal design of horizontal fins to improve the performance of 444 phase change material rectangular enclosures. Applied Thermal Engineering. 91 (2015) 234-44.
- 445 [23] Q. Ren, C.L. Chan. GPU accelerated numerical study of PCM melting process in an enclosure
  446 with internal fins using lattice Boltzmann method. International Journal of Heat and Mass Transfer.
  447 100 (2016) 522-35.
- 448 [24] Z. Li, Z.-G. Wu. Analysis of HTFs, PCMs and fins effects on the thermal performance of shell– 449 tube thermal energy storage units. Solar Energy. 122 (2015) 382-95.
- 450 [25] A.A.R. Darzi, M. Jourabian, M. Farhadi. Melting and solidification of PCM enhanced by radial
- 451 conductive fins and nanoparticles in cylindrical annulus. Energy Conversion and Management. 118
   452 (2016) 253-63.
- 453 [26] Y. Yuan, X. Cao, B. Xiang, Y. Du. Effect of installation angle of fins on melting characteristics of454 annular unit for latent heat thermal energy storage. Solar Energy. 136 (2016) 365-78.
- 455 [27] A. Caron-Soupart, J.-F. Fourmigué, P. Marty, R. Couturier. Performance analysis of thermal
  456 energy storage systems using phase change material. Applied Thermal Engineering. 98 (2016) 1286457 96.
- 458 [28] F. Agyenim, P. Eames, M. Smyth. A comparison of heat transfer enhancement in a medium 459 temperature thermal energy storage heat exchanger using fins. Solar Energy. 83 (2009) 1509-20.

- 460 [29] M.K. Rathod, J. Banerjee. Thermal performance enhancement of shell and tube Latent Heat461 Storage Unit using longitudinal fins. Applied thermal engineering. 75 (2015) 1084-92.
- 462 [30] K. Luo, F.-J. Yao, H.-L. Yi, H.-P. Tan. Lattice Boltzmann simulation of convection melting in 463 complex heat storage systems filled with phase change materials. Applied Thermal Engineering. 86
- 464 (2015) 238-50.
- 465 [31] M. Esapour, M. Hosseini, A. Ranjbar, Y. Pahamli, R. Bahrampoury. Phase change in multi-tube 466 heat exchangers. Renewable Energy. 85 (2016) 1017-25.
- 467 [32] N. Vyshak, G. Jilani. Numerical analysis of latent heat thermal energy storage system. Energy468 conversion and management. 48 (2007) 2161-8.
- 469 [33] Y. Tao, Y. He, Z. Qu. Numerical study on performance of molten salt phase change thermal470 energy storage system with enhanced tubes. Solar Energy. 86 (2012) 1155-63.
- 471 [34] Z. Li, G. Tang, Y. Wu, Y. Zhai, J. Xu, H. Wang, et al. Improved gas heaters for supercritical CO 2
- 472 Rankine cycles: Considerations on forced and mixed convection heat transfer enhancement.473 Applied Energy. 178 (2016) 126-41.
- 474 [35] Y. Tao, Y. He. Effects of natural convection on latent heat storage performance of salt in a475 horizontal concentric tube. Applied Energy. 143 (2015) 38-46.
- 476 [36] W.-W. Wang, L.-B. Wang, Y.-L. He. Parameter effect of a phase change thermal energy storage
- 477 unit with one shell and one finned tube on its energy efficiency ratio and heat storage rate. Applied478 Thermal Engineering. 93 (2016) 50-60.
- [37] S. Tiari, S. Qiu, M. Mahdavi. Discharging process of a finned heat pipe–assisted thermal energy
  storage system with high temperature phase change material. Energy Conversion and
  Management. 118 (2016) 426-37.
- [38] A.A. Al-Abidi, S. Mat, K. Sopian, M.Y. Sulaiman, A.T. Mohammad. Experimental study of melting
  and solidification of PCM in a triplex tube heat exchanger with fins. Energy and Buildings. 68 (2014)
  33-41.
- [39] S. Mat, A.A. Al-Abidi, K. Sopian, M.Y. Sulaiman, A.T. Mohammad. Enhance heat transfer for
  PCM melting in triplex tube with internal–external fins. Energy conversion and management. 74
  (2013) 223-36.
- 488 [40] M. Hosseini, A. Ranjbar, M. Rahimi, R. Bahrampoury. Experimental and numerical evaluation of 489 longitudinally finned latent heat thermal storage systems. Energy and Buildings. 99 (2015) 263-72.
- 490 [41] S. Seddegh, X. Wang, A.D. Henderson. A comparative study of thermal behaviour of a
  491 horizontal and vertical shell-and-tube energy storage using phase change materials. Applied
  492 Thermal Engineering. 93 (2016) 348-58.
- 493 [42] M. Kibria, M. Anisur, M. Mahfuz, R. Saidur, I. Metselaar. Numerical and experimental
  494 investigation of heat transfer in a shell and tube thermal energy storage system. International
  495 Communications in Heat and Mass Transfer. 53 (2014) 71-8.
- 496 [43] W.-W. Wang, K. Zhang, L.-B. Wang, Y.-L. He. Numerical study of the heat charging and
  497 discharging characteristics of a shell-and-tube phase change heat storage unit. Applied Thermal
  498 Engineering. 58 (2013) 542-53.
- 499 [44] H. Helvaci, Z.A. Khan. Mathematical modelling and simulation of multiphase flow in a flat plate 500 solar energy collector. Energy Conversion and Management. 106 (2015) 139-50.
- 501 [45] Rubitherm<sup>®</sup> Technologies GmbH. <<u>http://www.rubitherm.eu/en/>;</u>. 2016.
- 502 [46] A. Mohamad, A. Kuzmin. A critical evaluation of force term in lattice Boltzmann method, 503 natural convection problem. International Journal of Heat and Mass Transfer. 53 (2010) 990-6.
- 504 [47] D.D. Gray, A. Giorgini. The validity of the Boussinesq approximation for liquids and gases.
  505 International Journal of Heat and Mass Transfer. 19 (1976) 545-51.
- 506 [48] D.A. Nield, A. Bejan. Convection in porous media. Springer Science & Business Media2006.
- 507 [49] S. Tiari, S. Qiu, M. Mahdavi. Numerical study of finned heat pipe-assisted thermal energy 508 storage system with high temperature phase change material. Energy Conversion and 509 Management. 89 (2015) 833-42.

- 510 [50] C. Liu, D. Groulx. Experimental study of the phase change heat transfer inside a horizontal
- 511 cylindrical latent heat energy storage system. International Journal of Thermal Sciences. 82 (2014)
- 512 100-10.
- 513 [51] MatWeb. <<u>http://www.matweb.com/index.aspx>;</u>. 2016.

514

Journal:	Energy Conversion and Management
Manuscript ID:	ECM-D-16-02980
Title:	Parametric investigations to enhance thermal performance of paraffin
	through a novel geometrical configuration of shell and tube latent
	thermal storage system
Authors:	Zakir Khan, Zulfiqar Khan, Kamran Tabeshf
Corresponding Author:	Zakir Khan

Aug, 23<sup>rd</sup>, 2016

# Dear Professor Moh'd Ahmad Al-Nimr,

We are pleased to submit our revised manuscript in which we have carefully addressed all concerns raised by the reviewers. We would like to thank you and the reviewers for the insightful comments on the manuscript based on which we made appropriate changes. We believe that they significantly strengthen our manuscript. With the extensive changes in the manuscript we trust that the individual comments raised by the reviewers were addressed.

Our detailed point-by-point response is provided in the "Response to Reviewers" including the original comments of the reviewers placed in italics font. We hope that you will find the changes in our revised manuscript now meet your expectations and those of the reviewers. Thank you for the opportunity to respond to the concerns raised by the reviewers. Please contact us for any additional questions/concerns that you may have regarding this manuscript.

Sincerely, Zakir Khan Bournemouth University, NanoCorr, Energy and Modelling (NCEM), Fern Barrow, Talbot Campus, Poole, Dorset BH12 5BB, UK. E-mail: <u>zkhan2@bournemouth.ac.uk</u> Tel.: +44 7459249069

# **Editor:**

Please update your literature survey by referring to the most recent and relevant references that have been published in highly ranked and prestigious journals. Please focus on relevant publications during the last few years.

#### **Response:**

The authors thank the editor for highlighting this valuable point. The authors have revised and updated the introduction section and have included relevant and recently published literature. The introduction section has been rearranged according to practical utilisation of rectangular, cylindrical and shell and tube container orientations in latent heat storage systems. The authors are confident that the amounts of relevant papers reviewed in introduction section are now sufficient and have greatly improved the quality of paper.

# **Reviewer #1**

First of all, the novelty of this work needs to be clarified. Though this paper is titled 'Parametric investigations to enhance thermal performance of paraffin through a novel geometrical configuration of shell and tube latent thermal storage system', I can't find any contents describing the novelty of the geometric configuration. Considering the fact that configurations of LTS systems have been extensively investigated as reviewed in Lines 53-77, the originality of this work must be addressed before further consideration.

#### **Response:**

The authors would like to thank the reviewer for raising this valuable point. The authors have revised the manuscript and have added the following line to respond to the point raised by reviewer:

# This specific orientation of shell and tube with longitudinal fins has not been reported in literature. (Line 129-130)

The authors have not claimed the novelty in PCM as we have used a commercially available material. However, this specific vertical shell and tube container with longitudinal fins configuration has not been reported in previous literature. Also, this novel configuration has been able to achieve complete melting of paraffins in less than 7 hours, which was our motive for this novel design.

# **Continued to Reviewer #1**

In Lines 108-110, the authors claimed that 'in all cases the number of tube passes, fins number and fins geometry are wisely selected to minimize the reduction in thermal storage capacity'. I believe more contents are needed to clarify the basic methods/rules in the wise selection.

#### **Response:**

The authors agree with the reviewer and are thankful for the highlighting the point. In revised manuscript, the authors have identified the reasons behind selecting these specific parameters, as follow:

The geometrical parameters of shell and tube model are selected with an objective to develop an efficient and responsive LHS system that will be coupled with flat plate solar thermal system, which is previously designed and developed by Helvaci and Khan [44]. (Line 143-145)

In all cases, the number of tube passes, fins number and fins geometry are selected to design a LHS system that is capable of melting entire mass of PCM within 10 hrs and with minimal reduction in thermal storage capacity. Likewise, the highest possible temperature attained by flat plate solar thermal system is in the range of 333.15 K [44]. To incorporate weather fluctuations, the selected range of inlet temperature of HTF is from 323.15K to 343.15K. (Line 151-156)

In revised manuscript, the authors have clearly identified the reasons behind selection of these specific parameters/operating conditions. Furthermore, hit and trial technique was adopted for identification of physical model parameters that present better thermal performance.

# **Continued to Reviewer #1**

Concerning heat transfer enhancement the current literature review is not sufficient. For example, please mention (give) following study related to heat transfer enhancement in the sections of Introduction, and References List for completeness of your study and the references: Improved gas heaters for supercritical CO2 Rankine cycles: Considerations on forced and mixed convection heat transfer enhancement, Applied Energy, 2016, 178:126-141.

#### **Response:**

The authors would like to thank reviewer for highlighting this valuable point. In revised manuscript, the authors have updated the introduction section and have included the aforementioned very important paper, as follow:

Likewise, Li et al. [34] reported that heat transfer rate can be significantly enhanced by employing internally ribbed tubes instead of smooth tubes. (Line 113-115)

#### **Continued to Reviewer #1**

It has been verified that helical fins have superior heat transfer performance than longitudinal fins in some studies, e.g., Numerical analysis of buoyancy effect and heat transfer enhancement in flow of supercritical water through internally ribbed tubes, Applied Thermal Engineering, Applied Thermal Engineering, 2016, 98:1080-1090. Please explain why longitudinal fins, instead of helical fins, were employed in this work.

#### **Response:**

The authors are thankful to reviewer for this insightful comment. The authors agree with the reviewer that helical fins have better heat transfer rate than longitudinal fins in some orientations. However, it has been mentioned in introduction section and supported by number of references that inclusion of fins restrains natural convection. In vertical shell and tube container, helical fins offer more resistance to natural convection than longitudinal fins, therefore; it affects the overall thermal performance of LHS system. Likewise, the PCM volume will also be compromised by using helical fins instead of longitudinal fins. Reduction in PCM volume results in reduced thermal storage capacity. In revised manuscript, (Line 88-94) discusses the performance of circular and longitudinal fins, as follow:

Likewise, Agyenim et al. [28] conducted an experimental investigation to identify the thermal response of erythritol as a PCM in three orientations of horizontal concentric tube. The three orientations were concentric tube with no fins, with circular fins and with longitudinal fins. It was noticed that after 8 hrs of charging, only longitudinal fins orientation was able to melt the entire PCM. Also, cumulative thermal energy storage for longitudinal fins was comparatively higher. During solidification process, longitudinal fins showed better thermal performance with reduced subcooling. (Line 88-94)

# **Continued to Reviewer #1**

I'm not sure one phrase which occurred frequently in this paper is appropriate: 'an increase in surface area for heat transfer and thermal conductivity' (e.g., in Line 223). The increase of surface enhances thermal conduction and consequently overall heat transfer, instead of thermal conductivity.

#### **Response:**

The authors are grateful to reviewer for highlighting this point. The authors were referring towards the increase in thermal conductivity of overall thermal storage system. However, in revised manuscript, the authors have rephrased it as suggested by reviewer.

Due to an increase in surface area, the thermal conduction enhances and consequently overall heat transfer improves. (Line 280-282)

# **Continued to Reviewer #1**

The authors should specify the thickness of fins in Fig. 6.

#### **Response:**

The authors are thankful for raising this valuable point. In revised manuscript, the authors have specified the thickness of fins in Fig. 6, as follow:

Fig.6. Influence of fins length on melting fraction and temperature contours after charging for 4 hours. Fins thickness is set to 2 mm for all cases. (a) fins length = 12.7mm, (b) fins length = 25.4 mm, (c) fins length = 31.75 mm and (d) fins length = 38.10 mm. (Line 291-293)

# **Continued to Reviewer #1**

Some spelling errors: Melt front in Line 220, 233, 241 and 250 should be melting fraction.

#### **Response:**

The authors are thankful to the reviewer for highlighting the error in text. It has been rephrased with "melting fraction" in revised manuscript.

#### **Continued to Reviewer #1**

I suggest that a parameter/criterion is needed to collectively evaluate influence of certain conditions on both melting time and system storage capacity.

#### **Response:**

The authors thank the reviewer for insightful comment. The authors have elaborated the influence of fins geometry, construction material and inlet temperature of HTF on thermal performance of LHS system. In conclusion section, it has been discussed that 21 number of tube passes with fins length of 38.1mm, thickness of 2mm, copper as construction material and 333.15 K as inlet temperature gives an optimum thermal performance for this particular configuration of LHS system. In revised manuscript, 9 data points are taken in Fig. 7, 9 and 11 to clearly evaluate the influence of parameters and its trend on system thermal performance. These figures are self-explanatory for the readers to adjust the required parameters according to their requirements for the amount of thermal storage capacity and minimum time for charging and discharging of system (melting/solidification time).

# **Reviewer #2**

*The numerical study was conducted for a 2D model with little innovation nor any advanced numerical method. At least 3D model should be analyzed.* 

# **Response:**

The authors are thankful to reviewer for raising this point. The authors believe that this specific vertical orientation of shell and tube container with longitudinal fins has not yet been reported in previous literature. The numerical simulation of 2D model gives an insight to the overall thermal

performance of this novel configuration. The main objective is to identify the impact of geometrical configuration on overall thermal performance and 2D modelling is comparatively better and quicker technique to identify the parameters influencing the thermal performance. In 2D modelling, whole cross section area was selected that gives a good understanding about the heat distribution at various locations and periods. Fig 5, 6, 8 and 10 gives a better understanding of thermal performance for these specific orientations. Therefore, the authors believe that 2D modelling is sufficient to accurately identify the thermal performance of this novel configuration. The authors will certainly upgrade this numeral simulation model from 2D to 3D in next study.

#### **Continued to Reviewer #2**

Only 3 or 4 points in Fig.7, 9 and 11, which cannot give a full trend description. More data should be analyzed (7 or more).

#### **Response:**

The authors agree and are grateful to reviewer for this insightful comment. The authors have conducted number of simulations to collect more data. In revised manuscript, the authors have updated and considered 9 data point, as illustrated in Fig. 7, 9 and 11.

# **Reviewer #3**

My major concern is that the validation of the model is unclear and insufficient. This paper used the experimental data of Liu and Grouly (2014) to validate the model. The experiment used a different configuration and a different phase change material. Brief information of the experiment and corresponding simulation should be provided. Figure 4 shows the comparison of predicted temperature profile with experimental results. However, the flow rate and temperature of the heat transfer fluid used in the simulation is not provided. What's more, the location of the temperature profile is not given. To sufficiently validate the model, the comparison at several locations should be provided.

#### **Response:**

The authors would like to thank reviewer for the valuable comment. In revised manuscript, the authors have updated Fig. 4 and provided brief information about experimental and numerical simulation, as follow:

The current computational model was validated by comparing the simulation results with experimental results which are reported by Liu and Groulx [50]. In their study, dodecanoic acid was employed as PCM in horizontal cylindrical container of 152.4 mm outer diameter. Copper pipe of 12.7 mm outer diameter was fitted through the centre of cylinder. Four fins were connected to copper pipe, each at 90 degrees. Water was utilised as HTF through copper pipe. For validation purpose, the

computational model was simulated using geometrical configuration, PCM, initial and boundary conditions and mass flow rate of HTF as reported in [50]. Fig. 4 depicts that both numerical results and experimental results are in good agreement. (Line 226-233)

In order to validate the numerical simulation model, it was initially applied to the geometrical orientation and operating conditions as provided in Liu and Groulx [50]. The locations of temperature profile, mass flow rate of HTF and inlet temperature of HTF are clearly mentioned in revised manuscript. Temperature profiles are compared at both bottom half and top half of cylindrical container, as illustrated in Fig. 4.

# **Continued to Reviewer #3**

In Eq. (2), the Darcy's Law damping is commonly added in the momentum equation to consider the effect of phase change on convective heat transfer. I suggest the authors add this term in the simulation.

#### **Response:**

The authors thank the reviewer for this insightful comment. In revised manuscript, the momentum heat sink is mentioned in governing equations. Momentum heat sink term had already been considered in our simulation by implementing Kozeny-Carman equation. In revised manuscript, the brief into enthalpy-porosity technique is given, as follow:

During phase transition, the enthalpy-porosity technique considers mushy zone as porous medium. The porosity and liquid fraction in each mesh element are assumed to be equivalent. In fully solidified mesh elements, the porosity is equal to zero. In order to reduce the velocity in solid region to zero, Kozeny-Carman equation is implemented to estimate the momentum source term S in Eq. **Error! Reference source not found.**, as follow [48, 49]:

$$S = \frac{\kappa (1-f)^2}{(f^3 + \alpha)} \tag{1}$$

where  $\kappa$  represents morphology constant of mushy zone and  $\alpha$  is a small value to avoid division by zero. In this study the values of  $\kappa$  and  $\alpha$  are set to 10<sup>7</sup> and 10<sup>-4</sup>, respectively. (Line 179-186)

# **Continued to Reviewer #3**

The vectors in Eqs. (1)- (3), such as u, F, should be expressed in boldface to distinguish with those scalars.

# **Response:**

The authors agree and are thankful to reviewer for highlighting this point. In revised manuscript, it has been amended.

# **Continued to Reviewer #3**

Line 130. "F in Eq.(2) can be estimated by ... as follows". Citations are needed here.

# **Response:**

The authors are thankful to reviewer for raising this valuable point. In revised manuscript, the relevant citations are added.

# **Continued to Reviewer #3**

Line 131. The value of thermal expansion coefficient <beta> is not given.

# **Response:**

The authors are grateful to reviewer for this insightful comment. In revised manuscript, the value of coefficient of thermal expansion is provided in Table 1. (Line 159)

# **Continued to Reviewer #3**

The source of the thermal conductivity of materials reported in Table 3 should be provided.

# **Response:**

The authors are thankful to reviewer for highlighting this point. In revised manuscript, the source of thermal conductivity of materials is provided in Table 3, which was MatWeb.

# **Continued to Reviewer #3**

In Eq. (5), I suggest the authors use TS and Tl instead of Tpc-dT/2 and Tpc+dT/2.

# **Response:**

The authors thank reviewer for suggesting this valuable point. In revised manuscript, it has been rephrased as suggested.

# **Continued to Reviewer #3**

Line 151, according to Table 1, the melting temperature of PCM is 314.5K.

#### **Response:**

The authors are thankful to the reviewer for highlighting the error in text. It has been rephrased with "314.15K" in revised manuscript.

# **Reviewer #4**

In figure 1, it seems that authors have built 3D models by UG/Solidworks etc. why the 3D computational model is not built and just use 2D model. Comparison between 2D model with 3D model is needed before the all 2D models are presented.

#### **Response:**

The authors are thankful to reviewer for raising this point. The physical model is sketched in 3D to give a better understanding to readers about the geometrical configurations of novel shell and tube with longitudinal fins orientations. The numerical simulation of 2D model gives an insight to the overall thermal performance of this novel configuration. The main objective is to identify the impact of geometrical configuration on overall thermal performance and 2D modelling is comparatively better and quicker technique to identify the parameters influencing the thermal performance. In 2D modelling, whole cross section area was selected that gives a good understanding about the heat distribution at various locations and periods. Fig 5, 6, 8 and 10 gives a better understanding of thermal performance for these specific orientations. Therefore, the authors believe that 2D modelling is sufficient to accurately identify the thermal performance of this novel configuration.

#### **Continued to Reviewer #4**

In figure 5, as is shown, the models are all axial symmetry, which means that a quarter model with 90 degrees is enough to present the results? What about authors opinion?

#### **Response:**

The authors are thankful to reviewer for this insightful comment. The authors agree with reviewer. However for clear illustration, ease in understanding and broader benefits of readers, we have considered the whole cross section instead of quarter model.

#### **Continued to Reviewer #4**

The backgrounds about the physical model, including why this kind of structures is adopted and why these parameters are chosen, further descriptions are also needed, which can benefits the potential readers to understand the manuscript better and easier.

#### **Response:**

The authors are thankful to reviewer for highlighting this valuable point. In revised manuscript, the introduction section discusses the thermal performance of various configurations such as rectangular,

cylindrical and shell and tube containers. It has been discussed and validated with references that shell and tube configuration has better thermal performance than rectangular or cylindrical orientations. Likewise, longitudinal fins perform better than helical fins (Line 88-94). Therefore, shell and tube with longitudinal fins are selected to develop a novel model. In revised manuscript, the 2.1 Physical model has been revised and updated to make it easier for readers to understand that why these parameters are selected, as follow:

Physical configuration of LHS system is presented in Fig. 1. Parametric investigations of novel shell and tube model has been conducted to address the enhancement of phase transition rate and thermal storage capacity. The geometrical parameters of shell and tube model are selected with an objective to develop an efficient and responsive LHS system that will be coupled with flat plate solar thermal system, which is previously designed and developed by Helvaci and Khan [44]. The outer diameter, length and thickness of the shell are 450 mm, 320 mm and 1 mm, respectively. The tube is connected with fins, each of 2 mm thickness. The fins are equidistant to each other. Commercial grade paraffin is selected as PCM for its high heat storage capacity, good chemical stability, no supercooling, non-corrosiveness and low cost [6, 45]. Water is made to flow in tube. The thermo-physical properties of paraffin are given in Table. 1. Various configurations of shell and tube are examined, as depicted in Fig. 2. In all cases, the number of tube passes, fins number and fins geometry are selected to design a LHS system that is capable of melting entire mass of PCM within 10 hrs and with minimal reduction in thermal storage capacity. Likewise, the highest possible temperature attained by flat plate solar thermal system is in the range of 333.15 K [44]. To incorporate weather fluctuations, the selected range of inlet temperature of HTF is from 323.15K to 343.15K, (Line 140-156)

# **References:**

[6] Z. Khan, Z. Khan, A. Ghafoor. A review of performance enhancement of PCM based latent heat storage system within the context of materials, thermal stability and compatibility. Energy Conversion and Management. 115 (2016) 132-58.

[28] F. Agyenim, P. Eames, M. Smyth. A comparison of heat transfer enhancement in a medium temperature thermal energy storage heat exchanger using fins. Solar Energy. 83 (2009) 1509-20.

[34] Z. Li, G. Tang, Y. Wu, Y. Zhai, J. Xu, H. Wang, et al. Improved gas heaters for supercritical CO 2 Rankine cycles: Considerations on forced and mixed convection heat transfer enhancement. Applied Energy. 178 (2016) 126-41.

[44] H. Helvaci, Z.A. Khan. Mathematical modelling and simulation of multiphase flow in a flat plate solar energy collector. Energy Conversion and Management. 106 (2015) 139-50.

[45] Rubitherm<sup>®</sup> Technologies GmbH. <<u>http://www.rubitherm.eu/en/>;</u>. 2016.

[48] D.A. Nield, A. Bejan. Convection in porous media. Springer Science & Business Media2006.

[49] S. Tiari, S. Qiu, M. Mahdavi. Numerical study of finned heat pipe-assisted thermal energy storage system with high temperature phase change material. Energy Conversion and Management. 89 (2015) 833-42.

[50] C. Liu, D. Groulx. Experimental study of the phase change heat transfer inside a horizontal cylindrical latent heat energy storage system. International Journal of Thermal Sciences. 82 (2014) 100-10.

Parametric investigations to enhance thermal performance of paraffin through a novel geometrical configuration of shell and tube latent thermal storage system

Zakir Khan<sup>a</sup>\*, Zulfiqar Khan<sup>a</sup>, Kamran Tabeshf<sup>b</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Bournemouth University, Faculty of Science and Technology, NanoCorr, Energy and Modelling (NCEM), Fern Barrow, Talbot Campus, Poole, Dorset BH12 5BB, UK.

E-mail: zkhan@bournemouth.ac.uk

<sup>b</sup> Bournemouth University, Faculty of Science and Technology, NanoCorr, Energy and Modelling (NCEM), Fern Barrow, Talbot Campus, Poole, Dorset BH12 5BB, UK.

E-mail: KTabeshf@bournemouth.ac.uk

# **Corresponding Author:**

<sup>a</sup>\* Bournemouth University, Faculty of Science and Technology, NanoCorr, Energy and Modelling (NCEM), Fern Barrow, Talbot Campus, Poole, Dorset BH12 5BB, UK.

E-mail: zkhan2@bournemouth.ac.uk

Tel.: +44 7459249069

# 1 Abstract

2 This paper presents a two-dimensional finite element computational model which investigates thermal behaviour of a novel geometrical configuration of shell and tube based latent heat storage 3 (LHS) system. Commercial grade paraffin is used as a phase change material (PCM) with water is 4 5 employed as a heat transfer fluid (HTF). In this numerical analysis, the parametric investigations are 6 conducted to identify the enhancement in melting rate and thermal storage capacity. The parametric 7 investigations are comprised of number and orientation of tube passes in the shell, longitudinal fins 8 length and thickness, materials for shell, tube and fins, and inlet temperature of HTF. Numerical 9 analysis revealed that the melting rate is significantly enhanced by increasing the number of tube passes from 9 to 21. In 21 passes configuration, conduction heat transfer is the dominant and 10 effective mode of heat transfer. The length of fins has profound impact on melting rate as compared 11 12 to fins thickness. Also, the reduction in thermal storage capacity due to an increase in fins length is 13 minimal to that of increase in fins thickness. The influence of several materials for shell, tube and fins are examined. Due to higher thermal conductivity, the melting rate for copper and aluminium is 14 15 significantly higher than steel AISI 4340, cast iron, tin and nickel. Similarly, the thermal storage capacity and melting rate of LHS system is increased by a fraction of 18.06 % and 68.8 % as the 16 17 inlet temperature of HTF is increased from 323.15 K to 343.15 K, respectively. This study presents an insight into how to augment the thermal behaviour of paraffin based LHS system and ultimately, 18 19 these findings inform novel design solutions for wide-ranging practical utilisation in both domestic 20 and commercial heat storage applications.

# 21 Keywords

22 Latent heat storage, Phase change material, Thermal conductivity, Heat transfer, Shell and tube

# **Table of Contents**

23	1.	Introduction	4
24	2.	Numerical model	7
25		2.1 Physical model	7
26		2.2 Governing equations	8
27		2.3 Initial and boundary conditions	10
28		2.4 Computational procedure and model validation	10
29	3.	Results and discussion	12
30		3.1 Numbers and orientations of tube passes	12
31		3.2 Longitudinal fins geometry	15
32		3.3 Shell, tube and fins materials	18
33		3.4 Inlet temperature of HTF	18

34	4. Conclusions	. 20
35	Acknowledgment	.21
36	References	.21

# Nomenclature

$C_{p}$	Specific heat at constant pressure (kJ/kg. K)	S	Momentum source term
F	Volume force (Pa/m)	<mark>u</mark>	Velocity (m/s)
f	Fraction of PCM in solid and liquid phase	α	Small constant value
$f_s$	Fraction of PCM in solid phase	β	Coefficient of thermal expansion (1/K)
$f_l$	Fraction of PCM in liquid phase	K	Morphology constant of mushy zone
g	Gravitational acceleration (m/s <sup>2</sup> )	ρ	Density (kg/m <sup>3</sup> )
Η	Specific enthalpy (MJ)	μ	Dynamic viscosity (kg/m. s)
k	Thermal conductivity (W/m. K)		
L	Latent heat of fusion (kJ/kg)	Subscripts	
Т	Temperature of PCM (K)	S	Solid phase of PCM
$T_s$	Temperature of solid region of PCM (K)	l	Liquid phase of PCM
$T_l$	Temperature of liquid region of PCM (K)	Acronyms	
$T_{pc}$	Phase change temperature (K)	HTF	Heat transfer fluid
р	Pressure (Pa)	LHS	Latent heat storage
q	Heat source term (W/m <sup>3</sup> )	PCM	Phase change material

37

#### 38 1. Introduction

For a long era, the world energy requirements are served and assisted by fossil fuels. 39 However, due to the number of downsides of using fossil fuels such as limited and depleting 40 resources, inconsistent prices and emission of harmful gases have encouraged scientists and 41 42 engineers to progress in technologies to take advantages of renewable energy. In order to respond to 43 the unpredictable and fluctuating nature of renewable energy sources, latent heat storage (LHS) 44 system provides a viable option. LHS utilises PCM to store surplus thermal energy within solar 45 systems or heat recovery systems and retrieves it when needed, in order to minimise the gap between 46 energy demand and supply [1, 2].

However, due to low thermal conductivity of PCM, rapid energy storage and discharge has been a major obstacle. Therefore, LHS system requires a sensitive and responsive thermal energy storing and discharging technique. A significant body literature is available that deals with the enhancement of LHS system such as geometric orientations of LHS system [3, 4], utilising extended surfaces [5, 6], encapsulation of PCM [7-11], employing form stable PCM [12-17] and inclusion of high thermal conductivity additives to PCM [18-20].

53 To develop efficient and productive LHS systems, thermal behaviour of several configurations 54 and orientations have been examined. PCMs are normally employed in rectangular, spherical, 55 cylindrical and shell and tubes containers. Kamkari and Shokouhmand [21] conducted an 56 experimental study to identify the effect of number of fins on heat transfer and melting rate of PCM 57 in rectangular container. It was deducted that melting time for one fin and 3 fins were reduced by 58 18% and 37% as compared to without fins enclosure. However, an increase in number of fins resulted in reduced natural convection and thus the overall heat transfer rate was compromised. 59 60 Kalbasi and Salimpour [22] numerically studied the impact of length and number of longitudinal fins 61 on thermal performance of PCM in rectangular enclosure. It was reported that higher number of longitudinal fins with shorter length showed augmented natural convection as compared to few fins 62 63 with longer length. It was recommended that an optimum value for fins length and number should be identified to optimise the system. On the contrary, Ren and Chan [23] reported that an increase in 64 65 longitudinal fins length enhanced the melting rate of PCM and therefore small number of lengthy fins exhibited effective thermal performance as compared to large number of shorter fins. 66 67 Li and Wu [24] numerically investigated the influence of six longitudinal fins on melting rate

of NaNO<sub>3</sub> in horizontal concentric tube. It was observed that extended fins can reduce the melting and solidification time by at least 14% compared to concentric tubes without fins. Rabienataj Darzi et al. [25] simulated the effect of number fins on melting and solidification rate of N-eicosane in horizontal concentric tube. It was noticed that melting time for 4, 10, 15 and 20 fins were reduced by 39%, 73%, 78% and 82% as compared to no fins case, respectively. Likewise, the solidification time

73 was decreased by 28%, 62%, 75% and 85% as compared to no fins case, respectively. However, as 74 an increase in fins number restrained natural convection, thus increase in fins presented more prominent influence on solidification than melting rate. Yuan et al. [26] simulated the impact of fins 75 76 angle on melting rate of lauric acid in horizontal concentric tube. It was reported that fins angle 77 plays a significant role in influencing melting rate. The different angles for installation of two fins 78 were  $0^{\circ}$ ,  $30^{\circ}$ ,  $45^{\circ}$  and  $90^{\circ}$ . The melting rate for fins angle  $0^{\circ}$  was comparatively higher. Moreover, in 79 case of fins angle 0°, an increase in inlet temperature of HTF from 60 °C to 80 °C reduced melting 80 time by 59.24%.

81 Caron-Soupart et al. [27] conducted an experimental examination to identify the effect of 82 vertical concentric tube orientations on melting rate, heat exchange power and storage density. 83 Selected concentric tube orientations were consisted of a single HTF tube without fins, with 84 longitudinal fins and with circular fins. It was noticed that the melting rate for tube with longitudinal 85 fins and circular fins was significantly higher than that of the tube without fins. Likewise, the heat 86 exchange power was increased by a factor of 10 for the fins orientations than without fins. However, 87 due to provision of higher PCM volume, the tube without fins orientation exhibited higher thermal 88 storage density. Likewise, Agyenim et al. [28] conducted an experimental investigation to identify 89 the thermal response of erythritol as a PCM in three orientations of horizontal concentric tube. The three orientations were concentric tube with no fins, with circular fins and with longitudinal fins. It 90 91 was noticed that after 8 hrs of charging, only longitudinal fins orientation was able to melt the entire 92 PCM. Also, cumulative thermal energy storage for longitudinal fins was comparatively higher. 93 During solidification process, longitudinal fins showed better thermal performance with reduced

94 subcooling.

95 Rathod and Banerjee [29] experimentally evaluated the effect of three longitudinal fins on 96 melting and solidification rate of stearic acid in shell and tube container. It was noticed that melting 97 and solidification time was reduced by 24.52% and 43.6% as compared to without fins case, 98 respectively. Luo et al. [30] numerically studied the impact of number of HTF tubes and their 99 orientations in shell and tube container on thermal performance. It was observed that the required 100 melting time for single HTF tube was 2.5 and 5 times than four and nine HTF tubes, respectively. 101 Similarly, the thermal performance of centrosymmetric orientation is better than staggered and inline 102 orientation. Esapour et al. [31] also examined the influence of number of HTF tubes in shell and tube 103 container. It was noticed that by increasing the number of HTF tubes from 1 to 4, the melting time 104 can be reduced by 29%. Therefore, it is evident that the number of HTF tubes has a good influence 105 on thermal behaviour of LHS system.

106 Vyshak and Jilani [32] conducted a numerical study to compare the impact of rectangular,107 cylindrical, and shell and tube container orientations on melting rate of PCM. It was observed that

for the same volume and heat transfer surface area, the melting rate for shell and tube configurationwas comparatively higher.

Tao et al. [33] numerically investigated the influence of HTF tube geometry on melting time. The tested configurations involved smooth, dimpled, cone-finned and helical-finned tubes. It was reported that the melting time for dimple, cone-finned and helical-finned tube was reduced by 19.9%, 26.9% and 30.7% comparing to smooth tube, respectively. Likewise, Li et al. [34] reported that heat transfer rate can be significantly enhanced by employing internally ribbed tubes instead of smooth tubes. Furthermore, the influence of the numbers, geometrical configurations and orientations of fins on thermal behaviour of LHS system is discussed in [35-40].

117 The mass flow rate of HTF has a minimal influence on thermal behaviour as compared to inlet 118 temperature of HTF and geometrical configuration of LHS system. Seddegh et al. [41] numerically 119 examined the influence of vertical and horizontal orientation of shell and tube container on thermal 120 behaviour of LHS system. Moreover, it was noticed that mass flow rate of HTF has insignificant 121 influence on melting rate. Kibria et al. [42] conducted numerical and experimental examination of 122 paraffin wax in shell and tube container. It was deduced that mass flow rate of HTF has negligible 123 effect on thermal performance. Also, Wang et al. [43] numerically investigated the enhancement in 124 thermal performance of shell and tube container due to inlet temperature and mass flow rate of HTF. 125 It was observed that the inlet temperature has more profound impact on melting rate and thermal 126 storage capacity than mass flow rate of HTF. Thus, this article will not consider the parametric 127 investigation of mass flow rate of HTF.

128 In this article, the parametric investigation of a novel geometrical configuration of a shell and 129 tube model is conducted. This specific orientation of shell and tube with longitudinal fins has not 130 been reported in literature. A two-dimensional computational model is applied to a novel shell and 131 tube configuration. This article is focused on identifying the influence of number of tube passes and 132 their orientation in the shell on the melting rate and thermal storage capacity. Moreover, the parametric investigations of fins length, fins thickness and materials for shell, tubes and fins are 133 conducted to investigate the impact on thermal behaviour of LHS system. The influence of inlet 134 135 temperature of HTF on melting rate and thermal storage capacity is also examined. This article will 136 help in highlighting the parameters that can enhance the thermal performance of LHS system and 137 therefore, the large scale practical utilisation in various domestic and industrial applications, time-138 saving and economic benefits can be achieved.

# 139 2. Numerical model

#### 140 2.1 Physical model

141 Physical configuration of LHS system is presented in Fig. 1. Parametric investigations of 142 novel shell and tube model has been conducted to address the enhancement of phase transition rate 143 and thermal storage capacity. The geometrical parameters of shell and tube model are selected with 144 an objective to develop an efficient and responsive LHS system that will be coupled with flat plate 145 solar thermal system, which is previously designed and developed by Helvaci and Khan [44]. The 146 outer diameter, length and thickness of the shell are 450 mm, 320 mm and 1 mm, respectively. The 147 tube is connected with fins, each of 2 mm thickness. The fins are equidistant to each other. 148 Commercial grade paraffin is selected as PCM for its high heat storage capacity, good chemical 149 stability, no super-cooling, non-corrosiveness and low cost [6, 45]. Water is made to flow in tube. 150 The thermo-physical properties of paraffin are given in Table. 1. Various configurations of shell and 151 tube are examined, as depicted in Fig. 2. In all cases, the number of tube passes, fins number and 152 fins geometry are selected to design a LHS system that is capable of melting entire mass of PCM 153 within 10 hrs and with minimal reduction in thermal storage capacity. Likewise, the highest possible 154 temperature attained by flat plate solar thermal system is in the range of 333.15 K [44]. To 155 incorporate weather fluctuations, the selected range of inlet temperature of HTF is from 323.15K to 156 343.15K.





(a)



157 Fig. 1. Physical model of LHS system (a) Top view (b) Cross section view

# 158 **Table 1**

Thermo-physical characteristics of paraffin [45]

Melting Temperature $T_{pc}$	41-44 °C or 314.15-317.15 K
Latent heat of fusion $L$	255 (kJ/kg)
Specific heat $C_p$	2.0 (kJ/kg. K)
Thermal conductivity k	0.2 (W/m. K) (solid); 0.2 (W/m. K) (liquid)
Density $\rho$	800 (kg/m <sup>3</sup> ) (solid); 700 (kg/m <sup>3</sup> ) (liquid)
Dynamic viscosity $\mu$	0.008 (kg/m. s)
Coefficient of thermal expansion $\beta$	0.00259 (1/K)

159



160

161 Fig. 2. Various configurations and orientations of shell and tube based LHS system

# 162 2.2 Governing equations

163 The governing equations to calculate the thermal performance and phase transition rate of 164 PCM based LHS system are mass, momentum and energy conservation equations; which are 165 described as follow:

166 Mass conservation:

167 
$$\frac{\partial \rho}{\partial t} + \nabla .(\rho \mathbf{u}) = 0$$
(1)

# 168 Momentum conservation:

169 
$$\frac{\partial(\rho \mathbf{u})}{\partial t} + \nabla .(\rho \mathbf{u}\mathbf{u}) = -\nabla p + \nabla .(\mu \nabla \mathbf{u}) + \mathbf{F} + S\mathbf{u}$$
(2)

170 Energy conservation:

171 
$$\frac{\partial(\rho C_p T)}{\partial t} + \nabla .(\rho C_p T \mathbf{u}) = \nabla .(k \nabla T) + q$$
(3)

where  $\rho$ , **u**, p,  $\mu$ , **F**, *S*,  $C_p$ , k, *T* and q represents density (kg/m<sup>3</sup>), velocity (m/s), pressure (Pa), dynamic viscosity (kg/m.s), volume force (Pa/m), momentum source term, specific heat at constant pressure (kJ/kg.K), thermal conductivity (W/m.K), temperature (K) and heat source term (W/m<sup>3</sup>), respectively. *F* in Eq. (2) can be estimated by using Boussinesq approximation [46, 47] as follow:

177 
$$\mathbf{F} = \rho \mathbf{g} \beta (T - T_{pc}) \tag{4}$$

178 where  $\mathbf{g}$ ,  $\beta$  and  $T_{pc}$  shows gravitational acceleration (m/s<sup>2</sup>), coefficient of thermal 179 expansion (1/K) and phase change temperature (K), respectively. During phase transition, the 180 enthalpy-porosity technique considers mushy zone as porous medium. The porosity and liquid 181 fraction in each mesh element are assumed to be equivalent. In fully solidified mesh elements, the 182 porosity is equal to zero. In order to reduce the velocity in solid region to zero, Kozeny-Carman 183 equation is implemented to estimate the momentum source term *S* in Eq. (2), as follow [48, 49]:

$$S = \frac{\kappa (1-f)^2}{(f^3 + \alpha)} \tag{5}$$

184

where  $\kappa$  represents morphology constant of mushy zone and  $\alpha$  is a small value to avoid division by zero. In this study the values of  $\kappa$  and  $\alpha$  are set to 10<sup>7</sup> and 10<sup>-4</sup>, respectively. Further, the phase transition occurs in temperature interval of  $T_s \leq T \leq T_l$ . A smoothing function f is introduced which indicates the fraction of material in solid and liquid phase, as described below:

189 
$$f = \begin{cases} 0 & T < T_s \\ \frac{T - T_s}{T_l - T_s} & T_s \le T \le T_l \\ 1 & T > T_l \end{cases}$$
(6)

where the indices S and l represent the solid and liquid phase of PCM, respectively. During phase transition interval, the specific enthalpy H can be defined as the combination of enthalpy in solid and liquid phase, as follow:

$$193 \qquad \rho H = f_s \rho_s H_s + f_l \rho_l H_l \tag{7}$$

194 To calculate effective specific heat capacity, Eq. (7) is differentiated with respect to 195 temperature and simplified as follow:

196 
$$C_{p} = \frac{\partial}{\partial T} \left[ \frac{f_{s} \rho_{s} H_{s} + f_{l} \rho_{l} H_{l}}{\rho} \right]$$
(8)

197 
$$C_{p} = \frac{1}{\rho} \Big( f_{s} \rho_{s} C_{p,s} + f_{l} \rho_{l} C_{p,l} \Big) + \Big( H_{l} - H_{s} \Big) \frac{\partial}{\partial T} \left[ \frac{(f_{l} \rho_{l} - f_{s} \rho_{s})}{2\rho} \right]$$
(9)

198 Eq. (9) indicates that effective specific heat capacity is the sum of sensible and latent heat 199 components. The difference in enthalpies  $H_l - H_s$  can be replaced with latent heat term L. 200 Likewise, the thermal conductivity and density of PCM can be expressed as follow:

$$k = f_s k_s + f_l k_l \tag{10}$$

$$\rho = f_s \rho_s + f_l \rho_l \tag{11}$$

#### 203 2.3 Initial and boundary conditions

As mentioned in Table. 1, the phase transition temperature of PCM is 314.15 K. In the course of melting, the initial temperature of thermal storage unit is kept at room temperature at 298.15 K, which is less than melting temperature. It indicates that initially entire PCM is in solid phase. A constant boundary temperature is provided from HTF tube to PCM in shell, which ranges from 323.15K to 343.15K. The melting process starts at t=0s by supplying constant temperature from HTF tube walls. The exterior boundary of shell is assumed to be perfectly insulated.

# 210 2.4 Computational procedure and model validation

211 The governing equations are discretised by using finite element approach. In order to simplify 212 the model, it is assumed that all tube passes transfer thermal energy to PCM at constant temperature  $T_h$ . The governing equations for HTF and PCM are simultaneously solved in entire computational 213 214 domain due to coupled thermal energy transfer between HTF and PCM. Second order backward 215 differentiation technique is employed for time stepping to check the relative tolerance. The relative 216 tolerance is set to 0.001. The mesh independency and time stepping are validated by conducting a 217 series of comparative investigations to find the influence of different mesh numbers and time steps 218 on melt time. Case C from Fig. 2 is selected for this examination. Table. 2 represent the impact of 219 mesh numbers and time steps on the melt time. It is observed that when the time step is set to 1 min, 220 the melt time for entire LHS system in case-II and case-III are 443 and 441, respectively. However,

the difference in melt time for case-I and case-II is significant. Further, the melting fraction at a point, which is at 20 mm vertical distance from the outer boundary of central HTF tube, is illustrated in Fig. 3. It can be noticed from Fig. 3 (b) that the melting fraction plots for all three time steps are almost identical. Therefore, the selected mesh numbers and time steps for this study are 57861 and 1 min, respectively.

226 The current computational model was validated by comparing the simulation results with experimental results which are reported by Liu and Groulx [50]. In their study, dodecanoic acid was 227 228 employed as PCM in horizontal cylindrical container of 152.4 mm outer diameter. Copper pipe of 229 12.7 mm outer diameter was fitted through the centre of cylinder. Four fins were connected to 230 copper pipe, each at 90 degrees. Water was utilised as HTF through copper pipe. For validation 231 purpose, the computational model was simulated using geometrical configuration, PCM, initial and 232 boundary conditions and mass flow rate of HTF as reported in [50]. Fig. 4 depicts that both 233 numerical results and experimental results are in good agreement.

# 234 **Table 2**

Validation of mesh independency and time stepping.

Case	Mesh	HTF	Time step	Melt time	Percent
	Numbers	temperature (K)	(min)	(min)	Error
Ι	28674	333.15	1	396	10.6
II	57861	333.15	1	443	-
III	61932	333.15	1	441	0.45
IV	57861	333.15	0.25	437	1.35
V	57861	333.15	0.5	452	2.03

235



Fig. 3 (a) and (b) illustrates the mesh and time steps independency, respectively.



Fig. 4. Comparison of temperature profiles to validate numerical model with experimental results
from [50]. For all cases, the inlet temperature and flow rate of HTF were set to 323.15 K and 1
l/min, respectively.

# 241 **3.** Results and discussion

# 242 3.1 Numbers and orientations of tube passes

Fig. 5 demonstrates the melting fraction of PCM in various geometrical orientations of LHS system. The inlet temperature of HTF is set to 333.15 K for investigating the effect of numbers of tube passes on melting rate. The number of tube passes in case A, B and C are 9, 12 and 21, respectively. With an increase in tube pass, the volume of PCM in shell is compromised by tube and fins. On the contrary, it will increase the effective surface area for heat transfer and thus the low thermal conductivity of PCM can be improved. As a result, the melting rate of PCM can be significantly enhanced by increasing the tube passes.

In case A, the geometric orientation depicts that the tube passes are widely apart. It can be noticed that the tube pass at the centre and the tube passes near the boundary of shell are afar. Therefore, due to low thermal conductivity of PCM, the heat transfer is not very intense in this region. Initially, the melting process is dominated by conduction. It can be noticed from Fig. 5 that only 65.75% of PCM is melted after 5 hrs of heat transfer. With an increase in liquid percentage of PCM, the heat transfer is now dominated by convection. Further, the melting rate is reduced due to lack of conduction heat transfer. It can be observed that the liquid percentage of PCM is 95.45% and 99% after 10 hrs and 15 hrs of heat transfer, respectively. Likewise, even after 20 hrs, the PCM is not completely melted.

In case B, the surface area for heat transfer is increased by adding three more tube passes. Similar to case-A, the melting process is initially dominated by conduction. It is observed that after 4 hrs of heat transfer only 71.85% of PCM is in liquid phase. Convection dominates the heat transfer now and thus the melting rate reduces, as the liquid percentage of PCM is 96.07% and 99.5% after 8 hrs and 12 hrs, respectively. In case B, the entire PCM is melted in 15 hrs of continuous heat transfer.

In case C, the surface area for heat transfer is enhanced by increasing the number of tube passes to 21. In this case, the heat transfer is highly dominated by conduction as it can be seen that a huge percentage of PCM is melted within 3 hrs. It is noticed that the liquid percentage of PCM is 84%, 94.2% and 98.25% after 3 hrs, 4 hrs and 5 hrs of heat transfer, respectively. The entire PCM is melted in 7.5 hrs.

As depicted in Fig. 5, the melting rate for case C is significantly higher than case A and case B. It is noticed that due to higher effective surface area for heat transfer, the melt time for case C is about half as compared to case B. Also, due to the increase in tube passes, the heat transfer is dominated by conduction and therefore, the melting rate is improved significantly.





275

Fig. 5. Liquid fraction for all the three cases at inlet temperature of 333.15 K

# 276 **3.2** Longitudinal fins geometry

277 Fins geometry plays a significant role in enhancing the thermal performance of LHS system. Fig.6 represents the effect of various fins lengths on melting fraction and temperature distribution in 278 279 LHS system. Heat is transferred to LHS system for 4 hrs at inlet temperature of 333.15 K. The 280 influence of various fins lengths ranging from 12.7 mm to 38.10 mm is investigated. Due to an 281 increase in surface area, the thermal conduction enhances and consequently overall heat transfer 282 improves. It is evident from Fig. 6 that the temperature distribution in entire system for case (d) is 283 significantly better than other cases. After 4 hrs of heat transfer, the liquid fractions for case (a), (b), (c) and (d) are noted to be 59.2%, 72.98%, 83.86% and 94.66%, respectively. 284

It can be observed from Fig. 7 that as compared to case (a), the total melting time for case (e), (g) and (i) is reduced by 35.45%, 47.01% and 57.32%, respectively. However, it is noticed that the thermal storage capacity is reduced by increasing the fins length. It is noted that the thermal storage capacity for case (i) is 1.94% lesser than case (a). Due to higher melting rate, case (i) is selected for further investigations in this article.



290

Fig.6. Influence of fins length on melting fraction and temperature contours after charging for 4
hours. Fins thickness is set to 2 mm for all cases. (a) fins length = 12.7mm, (b) fins length = 25.4
mm, (c) fins length = 31.75 mm and (d) fins length = 38.10 mm.



294

Fig. 7. Effects of fins length on total melt time and thermal storage capacity.

Fig. 8 illustrates the impact of fins thickness on melting fraction and temperature distribution in LHS system. The HTF temperature is set to 333.15 K and the system is charged for 4 hrs. The effects of different fins thickness ranging from 1 mm to 5 mm are examined. It can be noticed from Fig. 8 that the melting fraction for all cases are almost similar after 4 hrs of heat transfer. The liquid fraction for case (a), (b), (c) and (d) are recorded to be 94.58%, 94.66%, 94.74% and 94.75%, respectively. Likewise, the fins thickness has minimal influence on the temperature distribution.

Fig. 9 represents the total melting time and variation in thermal storage capacity for all cases. It can be noticed that the total melting time for case (e), case (g) and case (i) is reduced by 10.25%, 13.25% and 16.45% as compared to case (a), respectively. However, an increase in fins thickness can limit the volume for PCM and therefore the thermal storage capacity of LHS system can be compromised. As shown in Fig. 9, the thermal storage capacity for case (i) is reduced by 5.7% as compared to case (a), respectively.



308

Fig. 8. Influence of fins thickness on melting fraction and temperature contours after charging for 4

hours. (a) fins thickness= 1mm, (b) fins thickness= 2mm, (c) fins thickness= 3mm and (d) fins
thickness= 4mm.





Fig. 9. Effects of fins thickness on total melt time and thermal storage capacity.

#### 314 **3.3** Shell, tube and fins materials

315 The low thermal conductivity of PCM can be boosted by employing higher thermal 316 conductive shell, tube and fins. High thermal conductive materials play a vital role in improving the 317 thermal performance of LHS system. In order to analyse the influence of material on thermal 318 performance, the following materials are examined: steel AISI 4340, cast iron, tin, nickel, 319 aluminium 6063, aluminium and copper. The inlet temperature of HTF is kept constant at 333.15 K 320 for all materials. Table 3 represents the percent liquid fraction and complete melting time of PCM 321 against various materials. It is observed that as the thermal conductivity of material increases, the 322 heat transfer rate between HTF and PCM increases and therefore the melting rate of PCM 323 strengthens. Due to higher thermal conductivity of copper, the required melting time for PCM is 324 reduced by 23.68% as compared to steel AISI 4340. Likewise, aluminium and aluminium 6063 325 presents a good thermal performance, as the melting time is reduced by 18.84 % and 17.88 % comparing to cast iron, respectively. It is evident from Table 3 that copper and aluminium are the 326 327 suitable materials to be employed as shell, tube and fins material.

#### 328 **Table 3**

,			$\mathcal{C}$		5		
	Thermal [1997]	Percent Liquid Fraction					
Conductivity							Complete Melting
Materials	<mark>(W/(m.K)) [51]</mark>	2 hr	4 hr	6 hr	8 hr	10 hr	Time (hr)
Steel AISI 4340	44.5	63.92	85.23	95.53	99.25	100	9.67
Cast Iron	50	65.06	86.23	96.19	99.46	100	9.34
Tin	67	67.30	87.69	97.30	99.71	100	8.92
Nickel	90	68.57	88.32	97.78	99.85	100	8.75
Aluminium 6063	201	72.77	92.19	99.08	100		7.67
Aluminium	238	73.05	92.68	99.15	100		7.58
Copper	400	73.63	93.69	99.34	100		7.38

Effect of shell, tube and fins material on melting rate of LHS system

329

#### 330 **3.4 Inlet temperature of HTF**

In order to examine the influence of inlet temperature of HTF on melting rate and increase in enthalpy of LHS system, various inlet temperatures are investigated ranging from 323.15 K to 343.15 K. An increase in inlet temperature of HTF produces higher temperature difference between PCM and HTF and consequently the heat transfer rate is accelerated. Due to an increase in heat transfer, the melting rate of PCM is enhanced, as shown in Fig. 10. It is evident that LHS system in case (d) is at notable higher temperature compared to case (a) and thus majority of the PCM is either 337 in liquid state or mushy zone. After 4 hrs of heat transfer, the liquid fraction for case (a), (b) (c) and 338 (d) are noted to be 66.71%, 92.93%, 93.65% and 99.55%, respectively. Fig.11 illustrates that the 339 total melting time is reduced by 42.8%, 52.4% and 68.8% as the inlet temperature of HTF is 340 increased from 323.15 K to 328.15 K, 333.15 K and 343.15 K, respectively. Also, due to the 341 increase in inlet temperature, the sensible enthalpy of the system is also augmented, which results in 342 enhancing the overall thermal storage capacity. Fig. 11 shows that the enthalpy of LHS system for 343 case (c), case (e) and case (i) is increased by 4.52%, 9.03% and 18.06% as compared to case (a), 344 respectively.



Fig. 10 Temperature contours of LHS system after 4 hrs of heat transfer. Various inlet temperatures
of HTF are (a) 323.15 K, (b) 328.15 K, (c) 333.15 K and (d) 343.15 K.

345



348

349 Fig. 11 Impact of inlet temperature of HTF on melting time and thermal storage capacity

#### 350 4. Conclusions

In this article, a computational model is employed to examine the thermal performance of novel shell and tube configuration based LHS system. Parametric investigation is conducted to inspect the improvement in thermal performance due to the number of tube passes, length and thickness of longitudinal fins, materials for shell, tube and fins, and inlet temperature of HTF. The augmented thermal behaviour of LHS system can attain both time and economic benefits, along with extensive and sustainable employment in both domestic and industrial applications. From the numerical results the following conclusions are reached:

It is observed that as the number of tube passes is increased from 9 to 21, the thermal performance of the LHS system is significantly enhanced. This is due to the fact that the thermal conductivity and effective surface area for heat transfer increases by increasing the number of tubes. The heat transfer is dominated by conduction heat transfer and therefore the required melting time for 21 number of tube passes is reduced by 48.5% to that of 12 tube passes.

The geometry of the fins plays a vital role in improving the thermal performance of LHS system. It is noticed that as the length of the fins is increased from 12.7 mm to 38.10 mm, the thermal conductivity of the system improved and consequently the heat transfer between HTF and PCM. The melting time is reduced by 57.32% as the length of the fins is increased from 12.7 mm to 38.10 mm.

- Fins thickness influences the melting time of the PCM. However, it is observed that increase
   in fins length has more prominent effects on thermal performance than fins thickness. Also,
   the thermal storage capacity of system is decreased by 5.7% as the fins thickness is increased
   from 1 mm to 5 mm.
- Shell, tubes and fins material has significant effect on the thermal performance. It is
   recommended to use high thermal conductive material, which is compatible with PCM. It was
   observed that copper, aluminium and aluminium 6063 has considerably better thermal
   performance with paraffin as compared to steel AISI 4340.
- The enthalpy and melting rate is augmented by increasing the inlet temperature of HTF from 323.15 K to 343.15 K. Due to increase in inlet temperature, the sensible enthalpy increases and therefore the overall system thermal storage capacity is increased by 18.06%. Likewise, the melting time is reduced by 68.8%.

# 381 Acknowledgment

This project is match funded by Bournemouth University, UK and National University of Sciences and Technology (NUST), Pakistan within their international research collaboration initiative. The authors would like to acknowledge both financial and in-kind support provided by both universities.

#### 386 References

- [1] M.M. Farid, A.M. Khudhair, S.A.K. Razack, S. Al-Hallaj. A review on phase change energy storage:
   materials and applications. Energy conversion and management. 45 (2004) 1597-615.
- [2] A. Sharma, V. Tyagi, C. Chen, D. Buddhi. Review on thermal energy storage with phase change
   materials and applications. Renewable and Sustainable energy reviews. 13 (2009) 318-45.
- [3] N.S. Dhaidan, J. Khodadadi. Melting and convection of phase change materials in different
- 392 shape containers: A review. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews. 43 (2015) 449-77.
- 393 [4] A.R. Archibold, J. Gonzalez-Aguilar, M.M. Rahman, D.Y. Goswami, M. Romero, E.K. Stefanakos.
- The melting process of storage materials with relatively high phase change temperatures in partially filled spherical shells. Applied Energy. 116 (2014) 243-52.
- 396 [5] S. Jegadheeswaran, S.D. Pohekar. Performance enhancement in latent heat thermal storage
   397 system: a review. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews. 13 (2009) 2225-44.
- [6] Z. Khan, Z. Khan, A. Ghafoor. A review of performance enhancement of PCM based latent heat
  storage system within the context of materials, thermal stability and compatibility. Energy
  Conversion and Management. 115 (2016) 132-58.
- 401 [7] P.B. Salunkhe, P.S. Shembekar. A review on effect of phase change material encapsulation on
  402 the thermal performance of a system. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews. 16 (2012) 5603403 16.
- 404 [8] C. Liu, Z. Rao, J. Zhao, Y. Huo, Y. Li. Review on nanoencapsulated phase change materials: 405 Preparation, characterization and heat transfer enhancement. Nano Energy. 13 (2015) 814-26.
- 406 [9] J. Giro-Paloma, M. Martínez, L.F. Cabeza, A.I. Fernández. Types, methods, techniques, and 407 applications for Microencapsulated Phase Change Materials (MPCM): A review. Renewable and
- 408 Sustainable Energy Reviews. 53 (2016) 1059-75.

- 409 [10] L.-W. Fan, Z.-Q. Zhu, S.-L. Xiao, M.-J. Liu, H. Lu, Y. Zeng, et al. An experimental and numerical
- investigation of constrained melting heat transfer of a phase change material in a circumferentiallyfinned spherical capsule for thermal energy storage. Applied Thermal Engineering. 100 (2016)
- 411 finned spherical capsule for thermal energy storage. Applied Thermal Engineering. 100 (2016) 412 1063-75.
- 413 [11] H. Zhang, J. Baeyens, J. Degrève, G. Cáceres, R. Segal, F. Pitié. Latent heat storage with tubular-414 encapsulated phase change materials (PCMs). Energy. 76 (2014) 66-72.
- 415 [12] B. Tian, W. Yang, L. Luo, J. Wang, K. Zhang, J. Fan, et al. Synergistic enhancement of thermal
- 416 conductivity for expanded graphite and carbon fiber in paraffin/EVA form-stable phase change417 materials. Solar Energy. 127 (2016) 48-55.
- 418 [13] Z. Liu, Y. Zhang, K. Hu, Y. Xiao, J. Wang, C. Zhou, et al. Preparation and properties of 419 polyethylene glycol based semi-interpenetrating polymer network as novel form-stable phase 420 change materials for thermal energy storage. Energy and Buildings. 127 (2016) 327-36.
- 421 [14] R. Li, J. Zhu, W. Zhou, X. Cheng, Y. Li. Thermal properties of sodium nitrate-expanded 422 vermiculite form-stable composite phase change materials. Materials & Design. 104 (2016) 190-6.
- 423 [15] L. Feng, C. Wang, P. Song, H. Wang, X. Zhang. The form-stable phase change materials based
  424 on polyethylene glycol and functionalized carbon nanotubes for heat storage. Applied Thermal
  425 Engineering. 90 (2015) 952-6.
- 426 [16] M. Silakhori, H. Fauzi, M.R. Mahmoudian, H.S.C. Metselaar, T.M.I. Mahlia, H.M. Khanlou.
  427 Preparation and thermal properties of form-stable phase change materials composed of palmitic
  428 acid/polypyrrole/graphene nanoplatelets. Energy and Buildings. 99 (2015) 189-95.
- 429 [17] J.-L. Zeng, J. Gan, F.-R. Zhu, S.-B. Yu, Z.-L. Xiao, W.-P. Yan, et al. Tetradecanol/expanded
- 430 graphite composite form-stable phase change material for thermal energy storage. Solar Energy431 Materials and Solar Cells. 127 (2014) 122-8.
- 432 [18] J. Khodadadi, L. Fan, H. Babaei. Thermal conductivity enhancement of nanostructure-based
  433 colloidal suspensions utilized as phase change materials for thermal energy storage: a review.
  434 Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews. 24 (2013) 418-44.
- [19] L. Fan, J. Khodadadi. Thermal conductivity enhancement of phase change materials for thermal
  energy storage: a review. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews. 15 (2011) 24-46.
- 437 [20] L. Liu, D. Su, Y. Tang, G. Fang. Thermal conductivity enhancement of phase change materials
  438 for thermal energy storage: A review. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews. 62 (2016) 305-
- 439 17.
- 440 [21] B. Kamkari, H. Shokouhmand. Experimental investigation of phase change material melting in
  441 rectangular enclosures with horizontal partial fins. International Journal of Heat and Mass Transfer.
  442 78 (2014) 839-51.
- [22] R. Kalbasi, M.R. Salimpour. Constructal design of horizontal fins to improve the performance of
   phase change material rectangular enclosures. Applied Thermal Engineering. 91 (2015) 234-44.
- 445 [23] Q. Ren, C.L. Chan. GPU accelerated numerical study of PCM melting process in an enclosure
  446 with internal fins using lattice Boltzmann method. International Journal of Heat and Mass Transfer.
  447 100 (2016) 522-35.
- 448 [24] Z. Li, Z.-G. Wu. Analysis of HTFs, PCMs and fins effects on the thermal performance of shell– 449 tube thermal energy storage units. Solar Energy. 122 (2015) 382-95.
- 450 [25] A.A.R. Darzi, M. Jourabian, M. Farhadi. Melting and solidification of PCM enhanced by radial
- 451 conductive fins and nanoparticles in cylindrical annulus. Energy Conversion and Management. 118
   452 (2016) 253-63.
- 453 [26] Y. Yuan, X. Cao, B. Xiang, Y. Du. Effect of installation angle of fins on melting characteristics of454 annular unit for latent heat thermal energy storage. Solar Energy. 136 (2016) 365-78.
- 455 [27] A. Caron-Soupart, J.-F. Fourmigué, P. Marty, R. Couturier. Performance analysis of thermal
  456 energy storage systems using phase change material. Applied Thermal Engineering. 98 (2016) 1286457 96.
- 458 [28] F. Agyenim, P. Eames, M. Smyth. A comparison of heat transfer enhancement in a medium 459 temperature thermal energy storage heat exchanger using fins. Solar Energy. 83 (2009) 1509-20.

- 460 [29] M.K. Rathod, J. Banerjee. Thermal performance enhancement of shell and tube Latent Heat461 Storage Unit using longitudinal fins. Applied thermal engineering. 75 (2015) 1084-92.
- 462 [30] K. Luo, F.-J. Yao, H.-L. Yi, H.-P. Tan. Lattice Boltzmann simulation of convection melting in 463 complex heat storage systems filled with phase change materials. Applied Thermal Engineering. 86
- 464 (2015) 238-50.
- 465 [31] M. Esapour, M. Hosseini, A. Ranjbar, Y. Pahamli, R. Bahrampoury. Phase change in multi-tube 466 heat exchangers. Renewable Energy. 85 (2016) 1017-25.
- 467 [32] N. Vyshak, G. Jilani. Numerical analysis of latent heat thermal energy storage system. Energy468 conversion and management. 48 (2007) 2161-8.
- 469 [33] Y. Tao, Y. He, Z. Qu. Numerical study on performance of molten salt phase change thermal470 energy storage system with enhanced tubes. Solar Energy. 86 (2012) 1155-63.
- 471 [34] Z. Li, G. Tang, Y. Wu, Y. Zhai, J. Xu, H. Wang, et al. Improved gas heaters for supercritical CO 2
- 472 Rankine cycles: Considerations on forced and mixed convection heat transfer enhancement.473 Applied Energy. 178 (2016) 126-41.
- 474 [35] Y. Tao, Y. He. Effects of natural convection on latent heat storage performance of salt in a475 horizontal concentric tube. Applied Energy. 143 (2015) 38-46.
- 476 [36] W.-W. Wang, L.-B. Wang, Y.-L. He. Parameter effect of a phase change thermal energy storage
- unit with one shell and one finned tube on its energy efficiency ratio and heat storage rate. AppliedThermal Engineering. 93 (2016) 50-60.
- [37] S. Tiari, S. Qiu, M. Mahdavi. Discharging process of a finned heat pipe–assisted thermal energy
  storage system with high temperature phase change material. Energy Conversion and
  Management. 118 (2016) 426-37.
- [38] A.A. Al-Abidi, S. Mat, K. Sopian, M.Y. Sulaiman, A.T. Mohammad. Experimental study of melting
  and solidification of PCM in a triplex tube heat exchanger with fins. Energy and Buildings. 68 (2014)
  33-41.
- [39] S. Mat, A.A. Al-Abidi, K. Sopian, M.Y. Sulaiman, A.T. Mohammad. Enhance heat transfer for
  PCM melting in triplex tube with internal–external fins. Energy conversion and management. 74
  (2013) 223-36.
- 488 [40] M. Hosseini, A. Ranjbar, M. Rahimi, R. Bahrampoury. Experimental and numerical evaluation of 489 longitudinally finned latent heat thermal storage systems. Energy and Buildings. 99 (2015) 263-72.
- 490 [41] S. Seddegh, X. Wang, A.D. Henderson. A comparative study of thermal behaviour of a
  491 horizontal and vertical shell-and-tube energy storage using phase change materials. Applied
  492 Thermal Engineering. 93 (2016) 348-58.
- 493 [42] M. Kibria, M. Anisur, M. Mahfuz, R. Saidur, I. Metselaar. Numerical and experimental
  494 investigation of heat transfer in a shell and tube thermal energy storage system. International
  495 Communications in Heat and Mass Transfer. 53 (2014) 71-8.
- 496 [43] W.-W. Wang, K. Zhang, L.-B. Wang, Y.-L. He. Numerical study of the heat charging and
  497 discharging characteristics of a shell-and-tube phase change heat storage unit. Applied Thermal
  498 Engineering. 58 (2013) 542-53.
- 499 [44] H. Helvaci, Z.A. Khan. Mathematical modelling and simulation of multiphase flow in a flat plate 500 solar energy collector. Energy Conversion and Management. 106 (2015) 139-50.
- 501 [45] Rubitherm<sup>®</sup> Technologies GmbH. <<u>http://www.rubitherm.eu/en/>;</u>. 2016.
- 502 [46] A. Mohamad, A. Kuzmin. A critical evaluation of force term in lattice Boltzmann method, 503 natural convection problem. International Journal of Heat and Mass Transfer. 53 (2010) 990-6.
- 504 [47] D.D. Gray, A. Giorgini. The validity of the Boussinesq approximation for liquids and gases.
  505 International Journal of Heat and Mass Transfer. 19 (1976) 545-51.
- 506 [48] D.A. Nield, A. Bejan. Convection in porous media. Springer Science & Business Media2006.
- 507 [49] S. Tiari, S. Qiu, M. Mahdavi. Numerical study of finned heat pipe-assisted thermal energy 508 storage system with high temperature phase change material. Energy Conversion and 509 Management. 89 (2015) 833-42.

- 510 [50] C. Liu, D. Groulx. Experimental study of the phase change heat transfer inside a horizontal
- 511 cylindrical latent heat energy storage system. International Journal of Thermal Sciences. 82 (2014)
- 512 100-10.
- 513 [51] MatWeb. <<u>http://www.matweb.com/index.aspx>;</u>. 2016.

514